

Faculty of **Dentistry**

Leukocyte Interactions with calcium phosphate biomaterials in vitro



Jinhao(Jeremy) Liu Faculty of Dentistry Division of Injury Repair Research

Supervisor: Dr.Jake E Barralet

McGill University Montreal, Quebec, Canada

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirement of the degree of M.Sc in Oral Health Sciences

©Jinhao Liu, August, 2023

Dedications:

I dedicate this work to my beloved parents who have the credited to help me achieve the goals. I also want to dedicate the thesis to my girlfriend and all my other family members and friends, who provides me with so much support.

"A journey of a thousand miles, begins at one's feet." Lao Tzu

Acknowledgements:

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my master thesis supervisor **Dr. Jake E Barralet** for his valuable guidance, support, and encouragement throughout my thesis project. His expertise in the field and his dedication to my success have been instrumental in the completion of this work.

I would also like to express my appreciation to **Dr. Yassine Ouhaddi** for his valuable time and insightful ideas that have been instrumental in shaping my research methodology and refining my analytical approach that ultimately helping me accomplish all the research work.

In addition, I would like to recognize my graduate committee member **Dr. Simon Tran** and **Dr. Svetlana Komarova** for their extensive knowledge, expertise and crucial feedback.

I am grateful for the time and effort my supervisor has invested in this project, providing insightful feedback and constructive criticism that allowed me to refine my ideas and improve the quality of my work. Their patience, encouragement, and availability for discussions have been essential in helping me navigate through the challenges of the research process.

Moreover, I would like to thank The **Dentistry Department** at **McGill University** for providing me with the resources and support needed to conduct this research. I am also thankful to my colleagues and friends, who have provided me with their encouragement and moral support during the writing of this thesis.

Finally, I would like to dedicate this work to my girlfriend **Qianyu Peng**, and my family, **Xianfeng Liu**, and **Yan Mao** for their unwavering support and encouragement throughout my academic journey.

Thank you all for your contributions and support. Jinhao Liu

List of Abbreviations:

PMA: Phorbol 12-Myristate 13-Acetate (C₃₆H₅₆O₈)

PBC: Peripheral Blood Cells

RBC: Red Blood cells

WBC: White Blood Cells

Hb: Hemoglobin

HSC: Hematopoietic Stem cells

DCs: Dendritic Cells

NK Cells: Natural Killer Cells

MMIF: Macrophage Migration Inhibitory Factor

IL: Interleukin

IgE: Immunoglobin E

T cells: T lymphocytes

B cells: B lymphocytes

CAR-T: Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cell

CAR-NK: Chimeric Antigen Receptor Natural Killer Cell

CAR-M: Chimeric Antigen Receptor Macrophages

PBMCs: Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells

NLRP: Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain, Leucine rich Repeat and Pyrin domain

containing

PAMPs: Pathogen-Associated Molecular Patterns

DAMPs: Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns

ILCs: Innate Lymphoid Cells

MCSF: Macrophage Colony Stimulating Factor

RANKL: Receptor Activator of Nuclear Factor kappa-B Ligand

HA: Hydroxyapatite

ECM: Extracellular Matrix

GVHD: Graft Versus Host Disease

HLA: Human Leukocytes Antigens

FFP: Fresh Frozen Plasma

HSCT: Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation

DCPA: Dicalcium Phosphate Anhydrous

MTT Assay: (3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5diphenyltetrazolium bromide) assay

IL-1 Beta ELISA: Interleukin-1 Beta Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent assay.

HBSS: Hank Balance Salt Solutions

PBS: Phosphate Buffered Saline

List of Figures and Tables:

Figure 1.1 Hematopoietic stem cells linage Figure 1.2 Percentage composition of human leukocytes Figure 1.3 The illustration of phagocytosis Figure 1.4 The production and activation of NLRP3 via IL-1 beta signaling pathways Figure 1.5 Hemocytometer and the grid Figure 1.6 ELISA analysis standard curve Figure 2.1 Comparison between the unwashed and the washed rat leukocytes at 24hrs and 48hrs with H&E stain. Figure 2.2 Comparison between the unwashed and the washed rat leukocytes at 15days with H&E stain and live dead assay. Figure 2.3 Washed leukocytes at day 7 stained with MGG at 10X magnification Figure 2.4 Comparison between the monetite granules co-culture with unwashed and the washed leukocytes at 24hrs Figure 2.5 HA granules co-culture with washed rat leukocytes at 24hrs 5X Figure 2.6 Monetite granules co-culture with rat leukocytes for 24hrs then treated with trypsin 0.25% and different first and second antibodies Figure 2.7 Trypsinized rat leukocytes (phagocytes) from the monetite granules after 24hrs of coculture at 60X magnification Figure 2.8 24hrs rat leukocytes MTT proliferation assay minus background reading at different initial cell concentrations Figure 2.9 ELISA targets IL-1beta protein concentrations of rat's Leukocytes alone and with HA granules, Monetite granules at 3 different time points Figure 2.10 Monetite and HA granules co-culture with THP-1 macrophages for 24hrs stained with Edu and Hoechst at 5X magnification

Figure 2.11 Comparison between Human THP-1 monocytes derived macrophages co-culture with monetite and HA granules at 24hrs and 48hrs at 5X magnification

Figure 2.13 Human THP-1 monocytes derived Macrophage IL-1 beta concentrations when coculture with varied materials at different time point minuses cells culturing alone

Figure 2.14 5days(120hrs) Human Macrophages culture alone, co-culture with HA and monetite granules MTT average readings minuses the background

Figure 2.15 Comparison between Human THP-1 monocytes co-culture with monetite and HA granules at 24hrs and 48hrs.

Figure 2.16 a,b.c : 24hrs, 48hrs, 5days(120hrs) Human THP-1 monocytes MTT assay for Cells culturing alone, culture with HA granules and Monetite at different Initial cell concentrations minus background reading

Figure 2.17: THP-1 Human Monocytes IL-1 beta concentrations when co-culture with different calcium phosphate granules at 24hrs minuses cells culturing alone

Figure 2.18: Comparison between human THP-1 monocytes derived macrophages and THP-1 monocytes co-culture with new granules (pyrite phosphate) at 24hrs, 48hrs and 5days(120hrs)

Figure 2.19: Monetite and HA granules culture with RPMI-1640 media alone for 5 days stained with live dead at 5X magnification.

Table 1: Summary of difference between Human and rat leukocytes

Table 2: Summary of cellular constituents of peripheral blood and their main known function in bone formation and resorption

Table 2.12: Adherent macrophages c (Cell Count), s (Cell Size), show the average cell count and cell size of cells growing on the plate, cells with new granules, HA granules, and monetite granules using Image J Batch processing

Abstract:

When biomaterials implants or coatings are implanted the initial contact and route for initial potential cell colonization is with the peripheral blood. The objective of this study was to determine whether peripheral blood leukocytes could attach to calcium phosphate materials that are used to repair bone. The initial stage of the work was to develop suitable techniques and parameters for creating reproducible leukocytes cultures on calcium phosphate materials. This enabled the study of leukocyte colonization with biomaterial in vitro. The next phase was to investigate the differences between the human THP-1 lineage cell lines and primary rat leukocyte interactions with calcium phosphate materials. Rat leukocyte separation from the peripheral blood using density centrifugation was challenging, and obtaining reproducible data from their culture was very time consuming. It is decided to switch to human THP-1 cell lines to save time. Rat leukocytes, human THP-1 monocytes and its PMA-derived macrophages were able to attach to the calcium phosphate materials rapidly and proliferate on the materials over the period of days. MTT assay and ELISA assay for IL-1 beta and estimation of cell count and cell size using Image J were used to characterise cultures. Qualitative data was collected using a live-dead assay, H&E staining, immunohistochemistry, MGG and trypan blue staining. Although technically challenging dies to practical difficulties such as observing cells on opaque calcium phosphate granules, autofluorescence of the granules, and inferring cell behaviour on a 3D material, difficulties handling small granules and a limitation on the volume of rat blood it was possible to generate reproducible 3D cell culture with rat leukocytes, human THP-1 monocytes and THP-1 derived macrophages on calcium phosphate granules. Both HA and monetite granules could support rapid leukocyte attachment. It appeared that monetite and HA biomaterials enhanced leukocyte proliferation. MTT measurements indicated higher cell numbers than compared to cells only on tissue culture plastic. Rat leukocytes and human monocytes proliferated most on monetite and human macrophages proliferate most on HA granules.

Resumé:

Lorsque des implants ou des revêtements de biomatériaux sont insérés, le premier contact et la voie potentielle de colonisation cellulaire se produisent avec le sang périphérique. L'objectif de cette étude était de déterminer si les leucocytes du sang périphérique pouvaient se fixer aux matériaux de phosphate de calcium utilisés pour la réparation osseuse. La première étape de ce travail consistait à développer des techniques et des paramètres appropriés pour établir des cultures reproductibles de leucocytes sur les matériaux de phosphate de calcium, ce qui a permis d'étudier la colonisation des leucocytes par les biomatériaux in vitro. La phase suivante consistait à étudier les différences entre les lignées cellulaires humaines THP-1 et les interactions des leucocytes primaires de rat avec les matériaux de phosphate de calcium. La séparation des leucocytes de rat à partir du sang périphérique en utilisant la centrifugation de densité s'est avérée difficile, et obtenir des données reproductibles à partir de leurs cultures a été très chronophage. Par conséquent, la décision a été prise de passer principalement aux lignées cellulaires humaines THP-1 afin de gagner du temps.Les leucocytes de rat, les monocytes humains THP-1 et les macrophages dérivés du PMA ont rapidement adhéré aux matériaux de phosphate de calcium et se sont multipliés sur ces matériaux pendant plusieurs jours. Pour caractériser les cultures, des tests MTT et des tests ELISA pour l'IL-1 bêta ont été réalisés, ainsi que des estimations du nombre de cellules et de la taille des cellules à l'aide de Image J. Des données qualitatives ont également été collectées grâce à des tests de viabilité, des colorations H&E, de l'immunohistochimie, des colorations MGG et du bleu trypan.Malgré les défis techniques, tels que l'observation de cellules sur des granules opaques de phosphate de calcium, l'autofluorescence des granules, l'inférence du comportement cellulaire sur un matériau en 3D, la manipulation de petits granules et la limitation du volume de sang de rat, il a été possible de générer de manière reproductible une culture cellulaire en 3D avec des leucocytes de rat, des monocytes humains THP-1 et des macrophages dérivés de THP-1 sur des granules de phosphate de calcium.

Table of Contents

Title Page:	<i>0</i>
Dedications:	1
Acknowledgements:	2
List of Abbreviations:	
List of Figures and Tables:	
Abstract:	
Resumé:	7
Introduction:	
Chapter 1: Peripheral Blood Cells:	
1.1 Red Blood Cells	
Erythrocytes:	
Hemoglobin:	
Macrophage Migration Inhibition Factor:	
RBC Reactions with Biomaterials:	
1.2 Leukocytes	
Neutrophils:	
Eosinophils:	
Basophils:	
Monocytes:	
Macrophages:	
Dendritic Cells:	
Osteoclasts:	
T-Lymphocytes:	
B Lymphocytes:	
Natural Killer Cells:	
Therapeutic Applications of leukocytes:	
Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells:	

Chapter 2 Leukocytes interactions:	25
2.1 NLRPS activations:	25
2.2 NLRPS activation by crystals:	26
2.3 Pathological Calcification:	27
2.4 Bone, Bioceramics:	27
2.5 Leukocyte reactions with biomaterials:	30
Chapter 3: Leukocyte cell culture:	30
3.1 Leukocytes culture parameters:	30
3.2 Hemopoietic Bioreactors:	31
3.3 Marrow Transplantation and HSC:	31
3.4 In vitro blood products, hematopoietic cell colonization on biomaterials:	33
Chapter 4: Experimental Materials and Method:	34
4.1 Experiment Materials:	34
4.2 Experiment Methods:	35
Chapter 5 Result:	41
5.1 Whole blood Leukocyte culture, troubleshooting:	41
5.2 The importance of Washing:	42
5.3 Identification of the rat leukocytes:	46
5.4 Rat leukocyte Quantification:	49
5.5 THP-1 Monocyte and differentiated Macrophage interaction with HA and Mon	etite:
	51
Chapter 6: Discussion:	66
6.1summary of objectives:	66
6.2 Summary of findings:	66

6.3 Interpretation:		
6.4 Limitations:		
6.5 Future Recomm	endation:	
6.6 Conclusion:		
Reference:		

Introduction:

Peripheral blood cells (PBC) are easily harvested and the wide variety of circulating cells within it make it a very attractive source of cells for therapies and diagnosis.¹⁶⁵ Any blood cell with a round nucleus is referred to as the peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC), which is isolated from the peripheral blood.¹⁶⁴ Recent advances in apheresis and liquid biopsy techniques have further boosted in developing beneficial technologies based around manipulation of PBMC. ¹⁶⁶ It is possible that peripheral blood leukocytes are the initial source of cell colonization on biomaterial implants. Despite this, in vitro culture methods remain relatively unchanged for some decades. Many leukocytes are formed in the marrow, an extraordinarily complex intricately structured tissue that renews peripheral blood cells that is protected by being located in the medullary cavities of bone. However, it is become appreciated that quite crude 3D culture systems can provide at least some of microenvironmental cues to create systems capable of undergoing hematopoiesis in vitro. ¹⁶⁷However, there are numerous challenges associated with generating reproducible in vitro 3D microenvironment cell cultures. My hypothesis is to investigate whether peripheral blood white blood cells could attach to, proliferate, and differentiate when co-culture with calcium phosphate granules in 3D microenvironment in vitro. Calcium phosphate biomaterial is the source of instant cells colonization after implantation Furthermore, I am going to compare rat and human leukocytes interactions with calcium phosphate materials to indicate if work with rodents is predictive of the clinical scenario. I will mainly be using two types of calcium phosphate materials and see if there is any difference among the materials interactions with leukocytes. First is monetite (500-1000nm size monetite granules) phenol-hydroxy (500-1000nm size HA granules). The third type of material: pyrite Phosphate (100nm size new granules) is also used in part of the experiment. My research is first to build the ideal reproducible culture parameter for rat leukocytes collected from the peripheral blood using Ficoll density separation protocol. The next step is to investigate if there is a rapid colonization on monetite and HA granules. Characterization and identification of rat leukocytes will be conducted using different stains as well as immunohistochemistry. If rat experiments show promising findings, human THP-1 monocytes cells and THP-1 monocytes derived macrophages will be used to confirm with the findings. Quantification of rat and human leukocytes will be conducted using MTT and ELISA assay, as well as cell count and cell size estimations using Image J. The objective is to see if there is any attachment, proliferation, resorption, and differentiation of human leukocytes on calcium phosphate materials. It is known

that a single hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) can generate the cell types necessary to reproduce ablated marrow.¹⁶⁸ But it is commonly observed yet overlooked that when calcium phosphates are implanted ectopically, marrow genesis can occur with full recapitulation of marrow function.¹⁶⁹ This incidental finding that has largely been overlooked during attempts to generate mechanically functional bone tissue is extremely important because it shows a possible role of calcium phosphates in providing cues for recapitulating boney microenvironments that can allow hematopoiesis. If we observe specificity of cell types that attach and proliferate the potential implication are far reaching, at one level this work can be used to efficiently expand hematopoietic cells, and more impactfully can be used to explore pathological conditions such as osteoporosis caused by inadequate switching from M1 to M2 macrophages, delayed bone and wound as well as pathological inflammatory responses and cancer treatments.

Chapter 1: Peripheral Blood Cells:

1.1 Red Blood Cells

Erythrocytes:

Peripheral blood is the most frequently used system in research and therapy development due to its highly dynamic cell composition and easily accessible collection methods of its WBC population. Peripheral blood cells (PBC) are widely used in all fields of health research in many fields of health research such as basic immunology research, molecular biomarkers, genetic screening, physiological research and many more. Products derived from peripheral blood such as Leukopak, cryopreserved Leukopaks, PBMCs, T cells, antigen-specific T cells, CD56+ NK cells, Monocytes, Dendritic cells and B cells are essential to use in many fields of treatments and medical research.¹²⁷ PBC are blood cells that circulate throughout the body which include RBCs, WBCs including peripheral lymphocytes and platelets, suspended in plasma. Commonly, blood is obtained from the peripheral veins and stored in bottles or tubes treated with anticoagulant agent such as heparin for further analysis or to use for whole blood transfer, especially for someone who lost a great portion of their blood because of traumatic events. The blood to anticoagulant ratio should be filled to completion to ensure 9:1 blood-to-anticoagulant ratio and avoid blood clotting, which could impact the quality of the blood test or cell culture.²There are three main categories cellular components: erythrocytes known as red blood cells, leukocytes known as white blood cells and thrombocytes known as platelets. Peripheral blood also contains plasma, which is the liquid component of the peripheral blood that acts as the vehicle that transports PBCs to circulate throughout the body to perform different actions.

PBCs all have a common progenitor, hematopoietic stem cells (HSC), immature cells that possess the ability to give rise to multiples blood cell linages (Figure 1.1). HSC are found in both peripheral blood and the bone marrow. RBC is the most common type of blood cells and continuously produced by erythroblast, a derivative from HSC. Typically, human RBCs have a biconcave shape and the diameter is about 7 to 8 μ m and thickness is around 2.5 μ m, and normal RBCs count range from male 4.7 to 6.1 million cells per microliter, and females range from 4.2 to 5.4 million cells per microliter.⁴ In the human, about 1% of RBCs are renewed daily in order to carry normal O₂ and CO₂ exchange functions between lungs and tissues. RBCs turnover result from an average circulatory lifespan of about 120 days.⁶ RBCs biconcave shape gives RBCs unique ability for repeated large deformation to squeeze through blood vessels as small as 2-3 μ m to its locations and carry its functions without any damage.⁵ Its volume compared to the total blood volume refers to the term hematocrit. The normal hematocrit for men should be ranged from 40 to 54% and 36 to 48% for women.⁶

Hemoglobin:

RBCs contain hemoglobin and are covered with a membrane composed of proteins and lipids. Hemoglobin, which carries oxygen from the lung to other parts of the body and takes carbon dioxide back to the lung to be exchanged by inhalation. An adequate number of healthy RBCs is important for maintaining bone health and ensuring proper bone healing.¹² Low production of RBCs, abnormal size and life span of RBCs, various cancers and cancer treatments, low iron levels in blood, and much more can lead to anemia, where patients experience fast heartbeat, fast breathing rate, shortness of breath and chest pain.⁹ Anemia patients are associated with reduced cortical bone density.¹³ that leads to an increasing chance of bone fractures as well as poor wound and bone healing.¹¹ Increased risks for hip fracture have been linked to both high and low Hemoglobin levels.¹³ Hb is a tetramer protein typically consists of 4 protein chains.¹³Hemoglobin A, which consists of 2 alpha and 2 beta polypeptide chains is the majority types of healthy hemoglobin. Hb A2, and Hb F, accounts for the other two types and a combined of 5% of normal hemoglobin. HbC is an abnormal form of HbC associated with hemolytic anemia and typically caused by a point mutation in the HBB gene.¹⁴ Hb's unique structures give them high affinity for

oxygen and a low affinity for carbon dioxide in arterial circulation. Reversely in venous circulation, hemoglobin has a high affinity for carbon dioxide and other wasteful ions, and a low affinity for oxygen.¹³ In order to keep adequate tissue oxygenation, a certain level of hemoglobin must be maintained. The normal Hb level for males is 14 to 18g/dl, and 12 to 16g/dl for females. (Henny H et al). An abnormal Hb level can be caused by serious clinical conditions such as Lymphoma, Leukemia, Anemia, multiple myeloma. ⁸ Hemoglobin synthesis are a biochemical synthesis of globin production and heme synthesis. Heme synthesis occurs in RBC's cytosol as well as mitochondria. It starts with glycine and succinyl coenzyme A and ends with the production of protoporphyrin IX ring.¹² The last step of heme synthesis is the binding of the protoporphyrin to a Fe2+ ion resulting in the heme molecules. Cytosol of RBCs is mainly responsible for the production of globin chain by genetic transcription and translation. A mutation in chromosomes 16 and 11 can lead to abnormal globin chain production that leads to anemia and ultimately results in patient's prolonged wound and bone healing.



Figure 1.1: Hematopoietic Stem Cells lineages, reproduced from ResearchGate with permission ¹⁵⁸

Macrophage Migration Inhibition Factor

There is mounting evidence that RBCs are much more important for immune function than previously through. The majority of macrophage migration inhibitor factor in the whole blood is stored in RBCs. ¹⁰ MIF is a human protein encoded by MIF genes. MIF cytokines is a proinflammatory cytokines that are the major mediators of the innate immune response. In recent times, MIF has been identified as a multipotent cytokine secreted by many cell types in immune response. ¹⁵ It works with the cell membrane receptor CD74, which is a type II transmembrane protein. It circulates in the blood stream and upon the stimulation by bacterial antigen, MIF binds to CD74 to trigger immune response. CD74 stimulation in multiple recent studies have shown an improvement in protecting against injury and tissue repairing in multiple parts of the body such as hyperoxic lung injury, sciatic nerve injury and more. ^{16,17,18} MIF-CD74 signaling pathways activates a pathway to increase survival and proliferation of certain cell types to protect its host during injury. Not only MIF exists in human, but MIF is also expressed ubiquitously in almost all mammalian cells and is vital for numerous biological processes in all species. ¹⁹

RBC Reactions with Biomaterials

Hemocompatibility refers to the blood compatibility with different biomaterials. Blood contacting medical devices and implants are widely used in the medical field to treat different diseases. There are Five test categories associated with the hemocompatibility evaluation in vivo. They are thrombosis, coagulation, platelets, hematology and immunology test on complements and leukocytes. ²⁰Even until today, thrombogenicity, refers to the tendency of a material to generate blood clotting or thrombus, is still a major problem in cardiovascular implants due to insufficient hemocompatibility. ²¹Multiple bioengineering efforts are still needed to change surface properties of the medical implants in order to increase hemocompatibility to reduce the potential side effects of medical implants. Carbon-based coating materials have shown promising results in their augmented ability to suppress thrombo-inflammatory reactions in the fields of biomedical implants.²² Functional covalent coating also shows an enhanced biocompatibility and hemocompatibility of blood contacting biomaterials.²³ There are numerous biomaterials that can perform and augment the natural functions of the body and biological system. It is still a wide area of research interest to engineer and to modify the new or pre-exist biomaterials to increase the

hemocompatibility and biocompatibility in order to reduce the potential side effects of medical implants.

1.2: Leukocytes

The immune system's function is to protect the host from a wide variety of pathogens, eliminate toxic and oncogenic substances as well as allergenic particles. Another important aspect to immune reactivity is self and non self-discrimination. The immune system is typically divided into innate and adaptive mechanisms to detect and eliminate harmful microbes and to keep a record of the microbes, so the immune system can recognize and react faster when they encounter them again. The immune system also participates in three sequential phases of fracture healing, which the fracture healing process begins with a local inflammatory response, which progresses to the remodeling and repair phases. ¹³² The bone fracture healing is under the control of immune system. The innate immune response is the first line of defense against invading pathogens and is fast acting with no immunological memory. Adaptive immunity is antigen dependent and antigenspecific and has the memory capacity to ensure host's next immune response to have more rapid and efficient outcomes. ⁵⁸ Connections and crosstalk between the two types of immune reactions are keys to provide better protections to the host. Defects in either system can provoke diseases like insufficient inflammation, autoimmune disease, immunodeficiency disorders and hypersensitivity reactions. ⁵⁹

Leukocytes, or white blood cells, circulate in the peripheral blood and participate in both innate and adaptive immune responses. Typically, Leukocytes are classified as granulocytes or agranulocytes depending on the presence of granular structures in their cytoplasm. ²⁴As indicted in Figure 1.1, leukocytes differentiated from the hemopoietic stem cells presented in bone marrow and peripheral blood following the myeloid cell linage and lymphoid progenitor cells linage. Normal human WBC count should range between 4,000 to 10,000 per microliter²⁵. Abnormal WBC count can be an indication of different diseases, inflammations, or infections. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells are cells isolated from peripheral blood and identified as blood cell with round nucleus. PBMCs include lymphocytes: T cells, B cells and NK cells, monocytes, and dendritic cells. Typically, in human, lymphocytes account for 10 to 20%, while dendritic cells are rare and only account for 1 to 2% of PBMCs. ⁶⁰ Neutrophiles, basophils, eosinophils and RBCs are removed from the whole blood by density gradient

centrifugations and will be the main method used to separate PBMCs from the whole blood in the experiments.

Neutrophils

Neutrophils are the most abundant type of WBC, and account for more than half of the WBCs. The neutrophil is a single multilobed nucleus, and range from 12 to 14 µm in cell diameter.²⁷ Its main function is as a first responder in the immune system to foreign invaders such as bacteria or virus. They are short lived, motile, and phagocytic, typically act in a self-destructive manner to destroy the damaged tissue, infected cells then later removed by macrophages. Upon activations, neutrophils produce substantial amounts of superoxide anion through NADPH oxidase enzyme and reactive oxygen species to kill phagocytized microbes.⁶¹ Abnormal generation of intracellular reactive oxygen species are associated with more susceptibility to infections. While doing so, neutrophiles also send a signal to the body to further modulate the adaptative immune response, critically for B cell maturation and survival. Neutrophils has a complex signaling pathways including G-protein coupled receptors, Fc-receptors, adhesion receptors, cytokine receptors, innate immune receptors. ²⁸NETosis is a process that results in the development of neutrophil extracellular traps, which are made of chromatin that has been modified and embellished with bactericidal proteins from granules and cytoplasm. In NETosis, the granule components are released into the cytosol, the nuclear envelope is destroyed, histone modifications result in chromatin de-condensation, and plasma membrane pores are formed.¹³³ Defects in neutrophils lead to cancer-associated neutrophilia and tumor infiltration of neutrophiles are important marker for poor cancer treatment prognosis.²⁹

Eosinophils

Eosinophils range from 12 to 17 μ m in diameter, are larger than neutrophils, and typically have two lobes in their nucleus. ²⁷As shown in Figure 1.2, they account for less than 5% of the WBCs, and act in phagocytotic manner. Human eosinophils phagocytose opsonized zymosan, which causes a dose-dependent noncytotoxic release of histaminase, arylsulfatase, and betaglucuronidase. ¹³⁴ Eosinophils are involved in combating parasitic, bacterial, viral infections and certain cancers. However, they can also have pathologic roles in diseases including asthma, eosinophilic autoimmune gastrointestinal disorders, autoimmune myocarditis, and responsible for causing allergic reactions. ³⁰ They can mistakenly recognize something harmless as a foreign invader and incorrectly trigger immune reactions that causes allergy. Eosinophils are equipped with receptors such as heterodimeric receptor for IL-5 and IL-3, chemokine receptor 3, chemokine receptor 1, lipid mediator receptor, pattern recognition receptors, Fc Receptors, Major histocompatibility complex-II, and adhesion receptors that regulates them and allow them to participate in inflammatory reactions. ³¹



Figure 1.2: Percentage composition of human leukocytes reproduced from with Springer Link with permission¹³⁴

Basophils

Basophils are one of the least common types of WBCs, 14 to 16 µm in diameter.²⁷ Basophils are mainly involved in immune response to parasites, blood clotting, allergens, and foreign pathogens. They act in phagocytotic fashion, and attack organisms unfamiliar to the body.³² Basophils acts in allergic reactions by releasing histamine and heparin, where histamine acts to dilate the blood vessels and improve blood flow to allow other immune cells to reach the destination, heparin prevents blood clotting. In addition, basophils have high-affinity IgE receptors on their surface

that binds to IgE antibody to trigger an allergen-specific immune response. IgE antibodies bind to IgE receptor to sensitize basophils to get triggered and promote the release of inflammatory mediators.³³

Monocytes

Monocytes are the largest and third most common type of WBCs, which can be up to 20µm in diameter with large eccentrically placed kidney bean shaped nucleus and account for up to 10% of WBCs. ²⁷ Monocytes are precursors of macrophages, dendritic cells, and osteoclasts. They are subdivided into classical, intermediate, and non-classical subsets based on their surface expression of CD14 and CD16. Classical monocytes are mainly found to possess the ability to phagocytose, participate in innate immune responses and migrate. Intermediate monocytes express CCR5 and are responsible for antigen presentation, secretion of cytokines, regulation of apoptosis and differentiation into other cell types, non-classical monocytes are involved in complement, Fc gamma mediated phagocytosis and adhesion. ^{36,37}. A high number of monocytes in PBC can indicate chronic infections, blood disorders, certain cancers, and autoimmune diseases, while a dwindling number of monocytes is a result of bone marrow disorders, chemotherapy and bloodstream infections and disorders. ³⁸

Macrophages

Macrophages are specialised phagocytic cells derived from bone marrow and monocytes in the peripheral blood. ³⁹ Recent studies have reviewed that despite belonging to the same mononuclear phagocyte system, monocytes, DCs, and macrophages have distinct origins.⁴⁴ They typically differentiate and mature in different tissues to exhibit different actions. They are mainly responsible for detection, phagocytosis, and destruction of bacteria and other harmful organisms to ensure the maintenance of tissue homeostasis and tissue regeneration. They can also present antigens to T-cells and initiate inflammatory reaction and active other cells by release various cytokines. ⁴⁰ Macrophages are divided into M0, M1 and M2, where M0 macrophage are undifferentiated macrophages with the capacity to polarize into distinct macrophages subtypes; M1 macrophages are able to detect and destroy pathogens through phagocytosis and promote inflammation; M2 macrophages are needed for regeneration of connective tissues by producing vascular endothelial growth factor and transforming growth factor, as well as secret digestive enzymes and growth factors to promote wound healing and regenerations. ^{42,43} The mechanism of

phagocytosis is demonstrated in Figure 1.3, as receptors on the cell surface bind increased ligand molecules, the cell membrane progressively engulfs the target, such as pathogen, dead cells, or bead. Upon full engulfment, a phagosome is formed, which fuses with lysosomes, resulting in the digestion of the target. The abnormal macrophage activation or dysfunctional phagocytic activity in macrophages can lead to several diseases such as acute respiratory distress syndrome, atherosclerosis, HIV related disorders, and chronic inflammations. ⁴¹



Figure 1.3: The illustration of phagocytosis reproduced from with MBinfo with permission ¹³⁶ Dendritic Cells

Dendritic cells connect the innate and adaptive immunity. It is becoming more recognized that DCs originate from progenitors in the bone marrow through hematopoiesis in an independent way distinct from monocytes or macrophages. ⁴⁴ DCs are traditionally divided into conventional and non-conventional. Conventional DCs are ready to exert their function, normally divide into migratory and lymphoid DCs, whereas non-conventional DCs are only arise in response to certain inflammatory stimuli. DCs are considered antigen presenting cells and essential mediators of the immunity and tolerance. ⁴⁶

Osteoclasts

Osteoclasts are large multinucleated cells that possess the ability to degrade and resorb bone in order to start bone remodeling and mediate bone loss in pathologic conditions due to remodeling of extracellular matrix.⁴⁷ Bone is consistently being broken down and restructured in response to structural stress or bone injury. Osteoclasts are derived from the circulating monocytesmacrophage linage in the blood, which is in turn derived from the bone marrow. Osteoclasts create these microscopic trenches on the surface of bone trabeculae in the spongy bone seen at the ends of long bones and inside vertebrae by secreting hydrochloric acid and proteases, such as cathepsin K, into an extracellular lysosomal compartment underneath a ruffled part of their basal cell membrane to simultaneously dissolve the mineral and matrix components of bone. It is followed by osteoblasts recruited to the site and mineralize it. ^{48,137}Osteoclast precursor differentiation is influenced by osteoblasts via RANKL/RANK and ephrinB2/EphB4 signaling pathways. Recent studies have also demonstrated that osteoclasts regulate the differentiation of osteoblast precursors and the movement of hematopoietic stem cells from the bone marrow to the blood stream.¹³⁸ Osteoclasts around bone and osteoclast precursors exert other functions as well, such as participating in immune responses and secrete cytokines that can affect their own functions and those of other cells in inflammatory and malignant bone processes. In additionally, they play a role in osteoimmunology and pathologically increased bone resorption. 74,138

T-Lymphocytes

Lymphocytes are a type of immune WBCs and made in the bone marrow that is mainly found in the peripheral blood and lymphoid tissues. It constitutes of two types of cells, T lymphocytes (T cells) and B lymphocytes (B cells) that works together to help immune system fight against cancer and foreign antigens.⁴⁹ T cells are mainly subdivided into natural killer CD8⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T helper cells, and T regulatory cells, and some minor types of T cells. Killer T-cells. ⁵⁰ Natural Killer T cells are activated by professional antigen presenting cells such as dendritic cells, then migrates into the circulation to execute their targeted function. Helper T cells are activated by professional antigen produce cytokines to initiate immune reactions from other WBCs. Regulatory T cells produce various inhibitory cytokines and function to end the immune response and inhibit autoimmune processes and possess ability to accelerate wound healing and battle cancer. ⁵¹

B Lymphocytes

B Lymphocytes are part of the immune system exist in various places of the body that works by produce antibodies. They are two types of B cells; plasma cells are short life span effector cells mainly responsible for releasing antibodies in response to certain antigens. Secondly, memory B cells remember particular antigen and start an immune response in a rapid fashion when making contact with these antigens in the future and play a significant in vaccinations. Abnormal B-cells development and functions can result in autoimmune disease such as type 1 diabetes, multiple sclerosis, and rheumatoid arthritis, as well as causing cancers such as acute and chronic lymphocytic leukemia, several types of lymphoma and myeloma. ⁵⁷ Bed sores known as pressure ulcers, was classically thinking of tissue ischemia induced by prolonged pressure from lying in bed, sitting in a wheelchair, or wearing a cast for prolonged time. Healing process of bedsores can take up to years and can be very costly once they deepen from skins into tissues and bones. ¹²⁰ In recent studies have shown that compression prevents lymph fluid drainage, which causes increased interstitial fluid and waster build up and contributes to develop of pressure ulcers, in addition to localized ischemia and reperfusion injury to tissues, impaired lymphatic drainage has been shown to contribute to bedsores as well. ¹¹⁹

Natural Killer Cells

Natural killer Cells are lymphocytes that share a common progenitor with T and B cells and belong to the same family. NK cells respond quickly to the development of tumors as well as intracellular pathogens after infection and on virus-infected cells. In additions, NK cells are best known for destroying virally infected cells and spotting and managing early cancer signs.¹³⁹ NK cells can identify stressed or infected cells and kill them in the absence of antibodies and major histocompatibility complex, triggering an immune response much more quickly.

Therapeutic Applications of leukocytes

Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) is a special engineered receptor created in the laboratory that is meant to bind to certain proteins on certain cells. CAR T-cell immunotherapy has shown impressive result in treating cancers, and six CAR T-cells therapies has been approved by US Food and Drug Administration to treat B-cells lymphomas, different forms of leukemia and multiple myeloma. CAR T-cell treatment works by removing patient's T-cells and taken to manufactured

in the lab by inserting a gene coded for artificial surface receptor proteins, chimeric immunoreceptors, also knowns as chimeric antigen receptor, to T-cells to induce them express on their surface. Specific proteins, or antigens, on the surface of cancer cells are recognized by the CARs and bound to them.⁵³ These engineered CAR-T cells are further expanded in cell culture then perfused back to patients. This engineering process aids in the T cells' ability to recognize and destroy cancer cells that express the particular protein that the receptor is made to bind. Although showing promise, CAR-T cells still faces a lot of limitations in currently clinically work such as severe life-threatening toxicities, remarkably-high cost, lack of anti-tumor activity, antigen escape and limited tumor infiltration. ⁵²

CAR-NK cells are easier to manufactured, have lower toxicity against lung cells and PBMCs¹⁴⁰, lower potentially fatal toxicity, lower cost compared to CAR-T cells treatment, lack of potential for causing graft-versus-host disease, and lower chance of acquiring cytokine release syndromes.¹⁴¹ CAR-NKs can kill cancer cells through both CAR-dependent and independent pathways such as Fas/FasL pathways and TNF- α cytokine pathways.⁵⁴ Create CAR constructs to activate NK cells and control NK receptors to enhance the effectiveness of immunotherapy for cancer.¹⁴²

CAR-M using similar techniques as CAR-T, but instead of T-lymphocytes they engineer CAR receptor proteins on macrophages. It has been an advancement to CAR T cell therapy to use to treat solid tumors. It has begun its first human trials, and work by engineering CAR- M cells to target proteins on cancer cells and penetrate solid tumors, ingest malignant tissue with their phagocytotic ability and stimulate innate and adaptive immunity to treat cancers. ^{55, 56}

Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells:

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells are cells isolated from peripheral blood and identified as blood cell with round nucleus. PBMCs include lymphocytes: T cells, B cells and NK cells, monocytes, and dendritic cells. Typically, in human, lymphocytes account for 70 to 90%, monocytes account for 10 to 20%, while dendritic cells are rare and only account for 1 to 2% of PBMCs. ⁶⁰ Neutrophiles, basophils, eosinophils and RBCs are removed from the whole blood by density gradient centrifugations and will be the main method used to separate PBMCs from the whole blood in the experiments.

Inter-species variations:

Human, rat, and other mammals have many similarities in functions, identifications, and morphology between WBC. In rats, the normal WBC count range from 3,600 to 14,800 per microliter²⁶ and the difference between the human WBC and rats WBC are illustrated at Table 1. Mammalian leukocytes have five major categories, neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils, lymphocytes, and monocytes. They are also characterized by granulocytes including the first three and mononuclear cells with the other. ⁶³ Neutrophils are still the dominant type of WBCs; however, many animal species do not have distinct lobe and filament arrangement like humans. Eosinophils granules of iguanas and some birds are pale blue compared to most animals' granules being orange. Horse Basophils are just like human filled with small, round, dark purple granules. Lymphocytes that circulate in healthy animals tend to be small and mature with round nuclei with small rim of light blue cytoplasm. Monocytes are the hardest to identify because their size is not consistent across distinct species. ⁶³ However, they all serve the same function to mediate immune reactions and protect the host from different pathogens.

	Human	Rat
Count(/ml)	4,000 to 10,000 ²⁵	3,600 to 14,800 ²⁶
Major	neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils,	neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils,
categories	lymphocytes, and monocytes.	lymphocytes, and monocytes.
WBC	45 to 65% of neutrophils	35 to 71% neutrophil
component:	1 to 4% of Eosinophils	0 to 4% of Eosinophils
	Basophil 1 to 4%	Basophil 1 to 4%
	Monocyte: 4 to 9%	Monocytes 0 to 4%
	Lymphocytes: 20 to 45% ¹⁴³	Lymphocytes: 20 to 50% ¹⁴³

|--|

Size:	Neutrophil 9-15µm small granules	Neutrophil 10-12µm granules less dense
	abundant pink color	than specific granules
	Eosinophil 12 to 17µm granules acidophilic	Eosinophil 12 to 15µm granules large
	with abundant peroxidase and lysosomal	round acidophilus
	enzymes	Basophil 12 to 14µm small cytoplasmic
	Basophil 10 to 14 µm, cytoplasmic	granules, disorderly distributed
	granules, bulky and disorderly distributed	Monocytes 12 to 15µm presented as
	Monocytes 15 to 25 μ m granules dense and	reddest-purple or azurophilic granules
	homogenous cytoplasm	Lymphocytes 6 to 10µm Azurophilic
	Lymphocytes 6 to 15 μ m, azurophil	granules. ¹⁴⁴
	granules that are prominent. ¹⁴⁴	

Chapter 2 Leukocytes interactions

2.1 NLRPS activations

Nucleotide-binding Oligomerization Domain (Nod), Leucine rich Repeat and Pyrin domain containing Proteins (NLRP) are members of Nod-like receptor protein family. NLRP are critical in regulating inflammatory reactions and host defense against microbial pathogens mediated by WBCs. NLRP acts as a scaffold protein and aggregates other proteins to form inflammasome or engage transcriptional signaling cascade that results in the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines that regulates several types of WBCs.⁶⁵ NLRP proteins have 14 subfamily members and are characterized by the presence of an N-terminal Pyrin domain that allows the recruitment and formation of inflammasome. ⁶⁴ NLRP3 is activated by PAMPs and DAMPs and subsequently activates caspase-1 that is able to proteolytically cleaves other proteins. This initiates the production and releasing of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 beta and IL18 as shown in Figure 1.4. ^{66, 145} The most characterized NLRP subfamily type is NLRP3, and is known to be involved in immune response to toxins from the environment and regulate inflammation by mediating pyroptotic cell deaths. The NLRP3 inflammasome is produced by bone marrow derived macrophages, however, abnormalities in NLRP3 inflammasome plays key role in causing osteoarthritis, cancer, atrial fibrillation, Alzheimer's disease, and other diseases. ⁶⁵ With the better understanding of this signaling pathway, drugs or therapies that target NLPR3 inhibitor to block

chronic inflammation has possess the ability to treat many diseases. For instance, MCC950 is a highly selective and small molecule inhibitor of NLRP3 that has been used as the target to treat Alzheimer's disease, and potentially treat Huntington's disease as well. ⁶⁶MNS, CY-09, OLT1177, Glyburide, JC124 and many other NLRP3 inhibitors could have become the therapeutic targets to treat patients with different syndromes. ⁶⁵



Figure 1.4: The production and activation of NLRP3 via IL-1 beta signaling pathways reproduced from ResearchGate with permission¹⁶³

2.2 NLRPS activation by crystals

Crystalline substances can also induce NLPRs signaling pathways by stimulating caspase-1activating NLRP3 inflammasome. Uric acid crystals connected to gout, silica crystals and aluminum salts can all activate NLPR3 inflammasome. ^{145,146} In addition, cholesterol crystals can also induce NLRP3 inflammasome in phagocytes *in vitro*, and when administered intraperitoneally *in vivo* cause acute inflammation, which is suppressed in mice lacking the NLRP3 inflammasome, cathepsin B, cathepsin L, or II-1 molecules.¹⁴⁷ The potent NLRP is activated cholesterol crystals, which aid in the development of atherosclerotic lesions.

2.3 Pathological Calcification

Calcified plaques in the arteries are clinical markers for atherosclerosis, a chronic inflammatory vascular disease, and the amount of the calcified plaques is correlates to the severity of the cardiovascular disease. The presence of calcium is a sign of how much fatty build up is in the arteries, and plaques in the arteries are the main cause of heart attack and stroke. Calcified plaques can break off from the artery and form blood clot, which results in the blockade of the blood flow and the oxygen supply to your heart and the brain. ⁶⁸ Inflammation mediated by WBCs play a major part in all phases of atherosclerosis. Stable calcified plaques are characterized by a chronic inflammatory state, whereas vulnerable plaques are characterized by an active inflammation. Evidence suggests that plaques in symptomatic atherosclerosis patients exhibit distinct CD4⁺Tcell subset and T cells to be activated and differentiated, whereas in the plaques from asymptomatic patients, there is a raising level of IL-1 beta signaling and activated T cells and macrophages, as well as many other types of WBCs contribute to the progression or immunoregulatory role of calcified plaques. ⁶⁹ Using monoclonal antibodies against immune cells, proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines, regulatory proteins like PCSK9, a protein that regulate LDLR levels in immune and vascular cells, has shown to be considered to be potential targets for immunotherapy of atherosclerosis. ⁷⁰

2.4 Bone, Bioceramics

WBCs have also shown to play a pivot role in bone resorption, remodeling, and healing. Increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines is associated with osteoclastic bone resorption.⁷¹ In the context of bone injury, immune cells are recruited to the site of injury, and this inflammatory response is required to ensure normal bone healing through angiogenesis, repaired damaged tissue and remodeling. Table 1 has shown the functions of different WBCs in bone healing. Dysfunction and dysregulation of immune cells hinders bone resorption and rejuvenation. ⁷²Bone is consistently being resorbed and remodeled even under normal conditions to maintain bone health and ion homeostasis by osteoclasts. This process releases minerals and transfers calcium to the blood and is tightly regulated by immune system. ⁷³Macrophages are present throughout the bone fracture healing process and discharges complex effectors to regulate bone healing. Older adults suffer from weakened bone healing due to abnormal macrophage activations especially in patients with

M1/M2 macrophage ratios. ⁷⁶ In pathological conditions, the WBCs play a major role in causing chronic inflammations that leads to conditions like rheumatoid arthritis and osteoporosis. ^{74,75} <u>Table 2. Summary of cellular constituents of peripheral blood and their main known function in bone formation and resorption.</u>

Cell types	Role in modeling bone
Neutrophils	Neutrophils activates osteoclast bone resorption through RANKL of Toll-like receptor 4 ⁷⁷
Eosinophils	Typically increased in patients with deficiency of vitamin D, involved in hyper IgE syndromes and pathological connections between allergies and osteoporosis. ⁷⁸
Monocytes	Provide signals that promote osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells and serve as precursors as well as recruiters to osteoclasts, macrophages, and dendritic cells ⁷⁹
Macrophage	M1 macrophages thought to promote bone resorption, M2 promote bone formation, and M1/M2 ratio controlled by estrogen directly relate to bone homeostasis ⁷⁶
Dendritic cells	Immature DCs transdifferentiate into osteoclasts ⁸⁰
Mast cell	Release pro-inflammatory mediators such as histamine, IL-6 and TNF-alpha to promotes osteoclast productions. ⁸¹
NK cell	Promotes osteoclast formation and osteoclastogenesis by producing RANKL and MCSF $^{\rm 82}$
Innate Lymphoid Cells	Produce various cytokines such as RANKL, IL17 that are involved in bone disorders. ⁸³

Bioceramics are now widely used in dental and orthopedic applications to replace bone and enhance bone healing. ⁸⁴ Tissue reactions to implant materials broadly classified depending on tissue reaction into Bioactive, bioinert, bioresorbable. Bioactive refers to that the biomaterials are designed to modulate or evoke biological activity; bioinert are the biomaterial that do not initiate a response or interact with other biological tissue; bioresorbable are the biomaterial that upon placement within the human body starts to being resorbed and slowly replaced by advancing tissues. ¹⁴⁸ Hydroxyapatite is a bioactive ceramic first used as a coating on implants in 1988 and is the most stable phase of various calcium phosphate. Due to its excellent osteo-conductivity and chemical and structural characteristics similar to the inorganic components of bone and teeth, it is often used as bioactive coating for dental and orthopedic implants.¹⁴⁹ To enhance the mechanical properties and overall effectiveness of implantable biomaterials created for orthopedic applications, HA is combined with other polymers and crosslinkers in form of composites.¹⁷⁷ Calcium phosphate ceramics was first used as implant material in 1980s, and they are used as implant material to be gradually replaced by newly formed bone because they have a biochemical composition, excellent osteo-inductivity, superior biocompatibility, pH-inducible degradability similar to bone and exhibit direct chemical bonding to surrounding bone. ⁸⁵ The ability of calcium phosphate materials to cause osteoblastic differentiation in progenitor cells has led to their widespread use as biomaterials for the regeneration of bone tissue and creation of calcium phosphate-based nanomaterials.¹⁷⁸ The clinical success of bio-ceramic implants relies on the interaction with the blood leukocytes. Phagocytic cells such as monocytes, macrophages, and neutrophils mediate key events for tissue repair, and the inflammation these cells cause is crucial for accelerating wound healing and re-establishing local homeostasis. ⁸⁶Macrophages are observed to have an altered activation when co-culture with different HA materials. ⁸⁸ The pro-inflammatory activity of these leukocytes can be modulated by bio-ceramics implants by enhancing or suppressing normal immune cell functions.⁸⁷ The biomaterial topography can also alter healing *In* Vivo, and Monocytes/Macrophage activation In Vitro. Using cDNA microarrays, monocytes and macrophages in-vitro cell culture expressed higher levels of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines, such as IL-1, IL-6, TNF- α , monocyte chemotactic protein 1, and macrophage inflammatory protein 1-beta.⁸⁹ Biomaterials materials and topography play crucial role on monocytes and macrophages' early proinflammatory cytokine production and gene transcription. An in-depth knowledge of the host's inflammatory and wound healing response to implanted

materials is necessary for the design and improve biomaterial-host responses. The search for a viable substitute for current bone regeneration techniques and biomaterials is paramount importance for several significant reasons: enhanced patient outcomes, increased accessibility, reduced surgical complexity, patient customization, biocompatibility, accelerated healing, treatment of complex cases and innovation. This research field holds promise for improving patient outcomes, reducing healthcare costs, and advancing the field of regenerative medicine. It addresses challenges associated with current techniques and materials. It has the potential to make bone regeneration more accessible, efficient and patient-centric.

2.5 Leukocyte reactions with biomaterials

Neutrophils, macrophages, and dendritic cells serve phagocytic and signaling roles, especially in early inflammatory reactions with biomaterials. Other WBCs serve as the immunomodulators. ⁹⁰ Interactions with biomaterials are typically characterized by hemostatic stage, inflammatory stage, proliferative stage, and remodeling stage. Transition between the inflammatory phase to proliferative phase key for proper healing and tissue regeneration. WBCs possess the ability to alter their own phenotypes and recruiting other cells from the proliferative phase. ⁹¹ At the same time, there are regulatory cells such as M2 and T-cells that acts as the inhibitor of chronic inflammation to ensure proper transition between these stages. ⁹⁰ Specifically, studies have shown that hydroxyapatite phagocytosis is mediated by polymorphonuclear leukocytes, as well as hydroxyapatite biomaterials are not cytotoxic to leukocytes. ^{92,93} Brushite, Monetite, calcium polyphosphate materials all have shown to have different responses to leukocytes. Coating and scaffolding using these biomaterials have shown enhanced osteo-immunomodulatory functions, thus enhance osteogenesis and dental regeneration. ^{94,95,96}

Chapter 3: Leukocyte cell culture

3.1 Leukocytes culture parameters

In most current leukocyte culture protocols, the tissue media is supplemented with 10% FBS, and cultured in 95% humidified 5% CO₂ at 37°C. As a first step for isolation and purification, RBC lysis is widely used in many laboratories, which is much quicker than density gradient separation and leaves WBCs relatively undisturbed with a higher yield than density gradient separation. Another widely used protocol is isolation of mononuclear cells by density gradient separation

using 1.077g/ml Ficoll-Hypaque and could additionally followed by using Percoll. Supplemental protocols include enrichment of lymphocytes from mononuclear cells through adherence to plastic or by positive or negative magnetic bead antibody separation. Neutrophils isolation can be accomplished by Percoll gradient centrifugation. The Long-term storage of PBMCs is accomplished by cryopreservation. However, possible alterations of cell function in addition to cell purity and yield may occur using these techniques. ⁹⁷ More recently studies have shown that PBMC proliferation can be altered with the oxygen concentration, with proliferation rate is higher at 20% oxygen than at 5% and 10% oxygen. ⁹⁸ In conscious rats, systemic hypoxia increases vascular permeability and leukocytes migration. ¹⁰⁰ PBMC can also behave differently under various thermal conditions. Incubation of PBMC at 4°C and 22°C for 1 hour did not affect the apoptotic percentage of cells, and incubation at 4°C for 24 hours resulted in the lower apoptotic percentage compared to 22°C and 37°C.⁹⁹

3.2 Hemopoietic Bioreactors

SA bioreactor refers to a device or system designed to grow cells or tissues. Hemopoietic cultures are complex because they do not reach a steady state and always contain a variety of cell types at various stages of development. These cells interact with their surroundings through the productions of cytokines, growth factors, adhesion molecules and metabolic processes. Despite these challenges, engineers have designed novel bioreactors specifically to grow cell and tissue products.¹⁰¹ Design of any novel bioreactors require engineers to have profound knowledge in cell's complex signaling pathways, interactions, cytokines release, behavior under stress and metabolic pathways. It is still an active area of research and potential. CAR-T, CAR-M, lymphokine-activated killer cells, tumor infiltrating lymphocytes, cytotoxic T lymphocytes and other adoptive leukocytes cell therapies have all used bioreactors as essential tools to develop high quality cell therapy products.¹⁰²

3.3 Marrow Transplantation and HSC

Marrow transplantation is the procedure to infuse healthy pluripotent blood stem cells in the body replace bone marrow that is malfunctional. Healthy haematopoietic stem cells are collected from the bone marrow, peripheral blood or sometimes umbilical cord blood undergoes apheresis, a protocol to remove parts of the blood that might provoke disease environments. Then they are

cultured, filtered to acquire desired cell types, and re-infused in the patient.¹¹⁷ Bone marrow transplantation is used to repopulate impaired bone marrow damaged by chemotherapy or radiation, and replace bone marrow that is not functional with the new stem cells. Engraftment is the term used to describe when the implanted marrow cells begin to function and proliferate, and it will take 8 to 14 days from the day of transplantation before blood counts start to recover.¹⁰⁶ For the recovery and long-term survival of patients after allogenic HSCT, the prompt reconstitution and restoration of a donor derived immune system is crucial. In optimal conditions after allogeneic HSCT, innate immunity quickly returns within 20 to 30 days, whereas adaptive immunity takes longer to recover and can take up to a year. ¹¹⁸ Bone marrow transplantation can benefit patients with acute leukemia, aplastic anemia, chronic leukemia, immune deficiencies multiple myeloma, neuroblastoma, and many other diseases. ¹⁰³ However, if the blood is coming from a healthy donor, there is a risk of developing GVHD, an immunological disorder initiated by mature CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells that affect many organs after transplantation.^{104,105} The donated immune system recognizes the patients' body as foreign and attacks them leading to different syndromes. Unlike GVHD, transplant rejection occurs when the recipient(patients) immune system recognizes the donating tissues, organs or marrow as foreign pathogen and attack them. Graft refers to the organ and tissue transplanted. Most graft rejections are mediated by recipient immunological mechanism, dominantly by lymphocytes T-cells and the severity of the rejection syndromes is associated with intensity of immune response against the graft.¹⁰⁷There are three types of rejection, hyperacute, acute and chronic, hyperacute rejection occurs within minutes and hours and caused by the preexisting anti-donor antibody in receipts WBCs, acute rejection occurs within first weeks to several months after transplantation and affect all organs caused by mismatch in HLA, chronic rejection is associated with long term graft loss and accelerate disease like arteriosclerosis or graft tissue fibrosis. ¹⁰⁸ Immunosuppressive drugs and treatments are currently being used to successfully prevent and treat both GVHD and graft rejection, however, chronic inflammation disease caused by both GVHD and graft rejection and is still a major area of research interest. ^{108,109} Biomaterials are widely used in tissue engineering to repair and replaced damaged tissues and organs, as well as biomaterial scaffolds provide immunomodulatory functions to lower immune response from either the host immune system or the graft. ^{110,111}

3.4: In vitro blood products, hematopoietic cell colonization on biomaterials

Four of these blood products—RBCs, Fresh frozen plasma (FFP), platelets and cryoprecipitate are more frequently used in general practice than the other blood products that can be prepared and used as replacement therapies in transfusion medicine. FFP, platelets, and cryoprecipitate are utilized for the prevention and treatment of bleeding, while RBC transfusions are primarily given to improve tissue oxygenation in case of anemia or acute blood loss brought on by trauma or surgery. ¹¹² More recently, in a randomised controlled clinical trial, red blood cells were produced in vitro in the laboratory using stem cells from donors and then for the first time in the world administered to volunteers. Laboratory manufactured blood cells could revolutionize treatment for many blood-related disease. ¹¹³ Reduction of normal and abnormal WBCs from the allogeneic blood components are needed to minimize the occurrence of adverse immunomodulatory effects such as transfusion rejections, GVDH, alloimmunization to leukocytes or to treat certain blood related diseases. ¹¹⁴ One of the processes is referred as leukoreduction, the removal of WBCs from the abord transfusion. Leukapheresis is a leukoreduction procedure involves the removal of some WBCs from the whole blood using apheresis device, then transferring plasma and WBCs back into the patient in order to treat chronic lymphocytic leukemia. ^{115,116}

As mentioned earlier, M1 pro-inflammatory macrophages thought to promote bone resorption, M2 pro-reparative state promote bone formation, and M1/M2 ratio controlled by estrogen directly relate to bone homeostasis. Especially in elder generations who suffer from weakened bone healing due to age-related alteration in macrophage activation and M1 to M2 transition. Biomaterials coating are used to design a novel drug delivery system to temporally direct the polarization of macrophages.⁴² This potential drug delivery system using biomaterials coating can restore normal macrophage activation and promote proper bone healing in older adults.

Hematopoietic cell colonisation on biomaterials has become an interesting research area with great potentials. One or more biomaterials have been studied on their capacity to promote stem cell differentiate into a particular target.¹⁷⁰ Biomaterials have become a vital frontier for stem cell-based tissue regeneration. Mesenchymal stem cell possesses potentials for multilineage cell differentiation, osteo-modulatory, dental, and immunomodulatory capabilities that can be used for various clinical purposes. A thorough understanding and a better understanding of hematopoietic cell colonization on biomaterials are fundamental for biomaterial based mesenchymal stem cell derivation from pluripotent stem cells. Different biomaterials designs and cellular modifications

have shown to improve mesenchymal stem cell yield, function, and transplantation. ^{171,172} BMP-9-loaded carbon-based biomaterial scaffolds work together with mesenchymal stem cells had also been chosen as a candidate for osteoporosis therapy and proven to have great clinical potentials. ¹⁷³

Chapter 4: Experimental Materials and Method:

4.1: Experiment materials:

Hydroxyapatite (HA) granules (size range from 500nm to 1µm)

The least soluble calcium phosphate at physiological pH is hydroxyapatite, which forms best in neutral or basic environments¹²⁹. Hydroxyapatite is a calcium phosphate mineral with chemical formula [Ca₁₀(PO₄)₆(OH)₂], which has attracted great interest from the researchers because they are widely used as biomaterials especially for orthopedic applications such as bone implants. ¹²¹ Its excellent biocompatibility, osteoconductive properties, and similarity to the inorganic component of bone led to its use in bone repair, bone regeneration, bone tissue engineering in the forms of granules, blocks, and scaffolds, in a composite form with other ceramics or polymers, or as a coating for dental or orthopedic implants. ¹²² Hydroxyapatite was made utilizing chemical precursors, particularly calcium and phosphorus, hydroxyapatite can be synthesized using a variety of techniques, including dry, wet, thermal or a combination of these techniques. ¹⁷⁴

Monetite granules (size range from 500nm to 1µm)

Monetite is a unique calcium phosphate [CaHPO₄, DCPA] phase known as monetite or dicalcium phosphate anhydrous. Monetite is used as biomaterial for medical implants, bone cements, implant coatings, granules for defect fillers, and scaffolds. Numerous in vitro and in vivo studies demonstrated that monetite products have favorable osteointegration and osteo-conduction properties, as well as a better balance between implant resorption and new bone formation than other calcium phosphate phases.¹²³

Both rat and human Leukocytes culture were using RPMI-1640 medium (GibcoTM Catalog number 11875093) with 10% FBS (GibcoTM) and 1% Penicilin-Streptomycin (GibcoTM catalog number 15140122). MTT assay (InvitrogenTM V13154), was used to detect cell viability and leukocyte count and manual cell count was conducted with 0.4% Trypan Blue Staining solution (GibcoTM 15250061). Leukocyte attachment and proliferation on biomaterials at different time points and different leukocytes concentrations were observed using Live & Dead Assay (InvitrogenTM LIVE/DEADTM Viability/Cytotoxicity Kit, catalog number L3224). Another rat and human

Leukocytes viability and quantification was performed using IL-1 beta Human ELISA kit (Invitrogen, ThermoFisher catalog number KHC0011). The amount of the target present in the original specimen relates to how strong this IL-1 beta signal is. Qualitative assay was performed using EdU assay (Abcam ab219801), Hematoxylin and Eosin staining kit (Abcam ab245880), May-Grunwald Giemsa Staining kit (Abcam ab150670) and Immunohistochemistry using first NOX2(MA5-18052), iNOS(ThermoFisher CXNFT), CD4(ThermoFisher GK1.5) and second antibody (Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-rabbit IgG (H+L)).Sterile pH7.4 phosphate buffered saline (GibcoTM 10010023) was used to wash both granules and cells.

4.2 Experiment Methods:

Rat Mononuclear cell isolation, Ficoll protocol

6 to 12 weeks old healthy Wistar rat peripheral blood was collected intravenously (protocol SOP#403) and used in each experiment. Small volume of blood was collected using lateral saphenous vein blood collection and large volume of blood collection was performed using the intracardiac puncture procedure, which is a terminal procedure and should be performed under anesthesia following by CO₂ Euthanasia. The blood was stored in heparinized tubes(10IU/ml) on ice and transferred back to the lab immediately for leukocyte separation.

Peripheral blood collected were then undergone density separation using a Ficoll gradient. Rat peripheral blood was mixed with an equal amount HBSS(Gibcotm) then centrifuged at 400g, 22°C with the brake removed for 40 minutes. Next the yellow mononuclear layer (around 3ml) was extracted using a micropipette and transferred to a new 15ml centrifuge tube. Twice the amount of HBSS(6ml) was added to the tube that was then centrifuged at 400g, 22°C with no brakes for 15 mins. The supernatant was removed, and the cells were further washed with 10ml RPMI-1640 media at 1500rpm, 22°C with brakes for 5 mins. The cells were resuspended in ph7.4 PBS, and centrifuged at 1500rpm, 22°C for 5mins twice to allow rinse them. It is reported that washing can increase the survival rate of rodent leukocytes and lower the cell cytotoxicity. ¹²⁶ Lastly, the washed cells were resuspended in 1-3ml of media and mixed gently. The cell number was measured using Trypan blue staining.
Rat leukocytes, RBC lysis protocol

10X RBC lysis buffer was also used initially for my experiment to isolate leukocytes. (1ml of peripheral blood + 10ml of RBC lysis buffer) However, the number of live cells and cells that attach to the material were not as good compared to the Ficoll Protocol. In addition, using RBC lysis, the leukocytes will still contain granulocytes that we are not interested in our experiment.

THP-1 cell monocytes and THP derived macrophage cell cultures

Commercially available THP-1 cells were grown in T-75 flask in the 37°C, 5% CO₂ incubator for a period of 10 days. 20ml of RPMI-1640, 10% FPS, 1% anti-fungal media was added to the flask and changed every 2 days. THP-1 cells needed to be centrifuged every time and remove the supernatant media before adding the new media. RPMI-1640 media was pre-warmed to 37°C. THP derived macrophages were prepared by adding Phorbol 12-Myristate 13-Acetatec, and only the adherent macrophages first detached by trypsin 0.25% from the T-75 flask were used for further MTT and Elisa assay. Macrophages did not proliferate as fast as monocytes and so required longer culture times.

Trypan Blue staining:

The initial cells number of leukocytes was estimated using 0.4% Trypan Blue staining solution (GibcoTM 15250061) using a Hemocytometer. 10µl of cells of interested were extracted and mixed with 10µl of Trypan Blue stain, and 10µl of stained cells transferred to the hemocytometer, and covered with the cover slip. Cells were observed under light microscopy to count the total number of leukocytes on 4 counting areas (top left, top right, bottom left and bottom right indicted by the Hemocytometer grid) of the hemocytometer. Record the number of cells observed from each corner 1,2,3,4.



Figure1.5 : Hemocytometer and the grid, cells from area 1,2,3,4 were counted separately, then the average of the 4 corners were calculated

The estimation of number of cells is using the following mathematical formula:

Number of viable cells/ml = $\frac{total number of cells observed}{4(number of quare counted)}$ × Dilution factor (2) × 10,000 Sample calculations: Rat leukocytes used: (130+150+140+180)/4 × 2 × 10,000 = 3,000,000 cells/ml Human THP-1 used: (39+35+46+28)/4× 2 × 10,000 = 740,000 cells/ml

Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) Staining:

The rat leukocytes from culture experiments were dehydrated in increasing concentrations of alcohol, then placed in hematoxylin, Mayer's solution (Abcam ab245880), for 5 minutes. It is then washed with distilled H₂O 2 times and stained with blue reagent for 10 to 15 secs followed by washed with distilled H₂O twice and 95% alcohol. Then the sample was treated with Eosin Y solution for 2 minutes then washed with 95% and 100% alcohol twice each. Then the sample was mounted with a cover slip and observed using light microscopy.

EdU(5-ethynyl-2'-deoxyuridine) Staining

The Edu stain/EdU staining proliferation kit (Abcam iFluor488 ab219801) is used to provide a sensitive and robust method to detect and quantify cell proliferation in live mammalian adherent and suspensions cells with fluorescence microscopy. Leukocytes and granules were co-cultured together and treated with Edu solution for overnight then washed with pH7.4 PBS. Three groups were compared: Control cells (+), media alone(-), cells with either monetite or HA granules.

IL-1beta ELISA (Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay)

Monocytes are main cell type that secrets IL-1, predominantly IL-1 beta. IL-1 is also produced by different forms of activated macrophages and by peripheral neutrophil granulocytes. ELISA is an in-vitro enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for the quantitative measurement of specific proteins and can be used to estimate protein concentration. Here, media in which rat WBCs, THP-1 monocytes, THP-1 monocytes derived macrophages were collected at 24hrs, 48hrs and 5days and stored in -20°C for 2 weeks before analysis. A standard curve as shown below was made in order calculate the IL-1 protein concentrations from all the samples. to beta



Figure 1.6 IL-1 beta ELISA analysis standard curve created using proteins provided by the ELISA kit.

The standard curve was made using the proteins that are provided with the kit. The plate reader was measured absorbance at 450nm. The ELISA kit chosen for the experiment was RayBio® Human IL-1 beta. The ELISA kit comes with an IL-1 beta 96 wells microplate coated with anti-human IL-1beta, standard proteins, wash buffer, detection antibody, HRP-Streptavidin concentrate, TMB one step substrate reagent, stop solution, assay diluent A and assay diluent B. ELISA kit also provides the Excel-sheet that can be accessed and used for data management and graph generation.

Live-Dead Assay

 1μ l of 3 mol Calcein, 2μ l of EDTH (ethidium homodimer-1) and 0.5μ l of Hoechest (Hoechest 34580 InvitrogenTM Catalog H21486) staining were added to a 1.5ml centrifuge tube, then 1ml of

pH7.4 sterile PBS was added to the mixture. The tube was shaken before adding 100µl of the mixture to each sample. Then all samples were further incubated for 10 mins at room temperature then observed using fluorescence microscopy. Leukocytes that attached to the granules and other adherent cells were first fixed with 100-200µl of 4% PFA for 30 minutes then washed with pH7.4 sterile PBS for 5 minutes prior to the live dead assay. The Excitation and emission were set 494/517nm for live green cells, and 517/617nm for red dead cells. The nucleus was stained by Hoechst with blue florescence at 460 to 490nm.

5-diphenyl tetrazodium bromide (MTT) assay:

The MTT assay ((InvitrogenTM V13154) gauges mitochondrial activity by measuring the amount of MTT that living cells convert into formazan crystals. MTT assay is a colorimetric and validated on adherent and suspension cells quantitative assay. The proliferation analysis was conducted using MTT Cell Proliferation assay Kit on a 96 well plate with clear flat bottom, and microplate reader absorbance was set at OD 590nm. Different densities of rat and human leukocytes were placed in duplicate with different materials as well as the background reading with just the media. 50µl of MTT reagent was added into each well. The plate was Incubated at the 37°C, 5% CO₂ for, 24 hrs, 48hrs and 5 days. After incubation period, 150µl of MTT solvent was added into each well and the plate was wrapped with aluminum foil. Then the plate was shake on an orbital shaker for 15 minutes then the absorbance at OD 590nm was measured using the plate reader. The background reading was subtracted, and a calibration curve was produced.

May–Grunwald Giemsa protocol

The MGG stain is frequently used to examine the cytological characteristics of the nucleus in air dried blood smears.¹⁷⁵ The rat leukocytes smear was fixed with methanol for 5 minutes, then stained the May Grunwald solution for 10 minutes, the slide then rinsed with distilled H₂O and was stained with diluted Giemsa for 30 minutes. It was then washed with distilled H₂O then dried. The slide was mounted and examined with light microscopy.

Image-J Image processing

The Leukocytes images taken with the fluorescence microscope were batched processed by using the software Image J (version 1.53). Images were opened and stacked in Image J in multiple files

then processed using batch processing. Image/adjust/brightness contrast were adjusted to create a binary image, then set to scale then analyze particles and eliminate threshold size to 0.02, which you will receive the total cell count as well as the average cell size.

Immunohistochemistry followed by immunofluorescence

The slides were deparaffinized, then NOX2 (InvitrogenTM MA5-18052) antibody was diluted to 1/250, iNOS Monoclonal antibody (ThermoFisher CXNFT) was diluted to 1/100, CD4 monoclonal antibody (ThermoFisher GK1.5) was diluted to 1/400. Cells were incubated with 0.3% triton for 10 mins followed by washing with pH7.4 sterile PBS for 1 min, 3 times. The washed cells were then incubated with serum block for 30 mins and applied each experiment differently with diluted NOXA2, iNOS, and CD4+. Those slides were incubated overnight then the slides were washed with PBS for 1 min, 3 times. The next step was to apply the second antibody (Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-rabbit IgG (H+L)) on all the slides from the previous day for 2 hours, then washed with PBS for 1 min, 3 times again. The last step was to incubate with Hoechst stain for 15 mins and observed the slide under the fluorescence microscopy.

Chapter 5 Result:

5.1: Whole blood Leukocyte culture, troubleshooting:

My research plan was to use both rat and human leukocytes extracted from peripheral blood, and to extract them using density gradient centrifugation following by cell culture in the incubator (37°C, 5% CO₂, 95% humidified). Initially, it seemed that the cells were growing and attaching on the biomaterials. However, when I trypsinized cells from the biomaterials and did the H&E stain and Live-Dead assay, there were mostly small crystals and barely any cells observed. Additionally, the crystals also stained giving a false positive result.

In order to determine if any leukocytes migrated into the granules. They were trypsinized to remove surface located cells and crushed into smaller particles and stained with H&E and MGG to observe if there are cells reside within the granules. However, crushing the granules results in more crystals being produced and as they also stained it was extremely challenging to differentiate them from cells. Leukocytes efficiently navigate microenvironments made of tissue cells and extracellular fibers, which together form complex environments of varying porosity, oxygen concentrations, stiffness, topography, and chemical composition, while consistently moving through multicellular organisms to investigate and respond to pathogens and other harmful insults. ¹⁵⁰ Both monetite and HA granules are porous structures that allows cells not only attach to them on the surface but also reside within the granules. A different approach was then followed to investigate the 3-D microenvironment within the granules is fixed these granules first then decalcified these granules using decalcified and put them into Histo-Gel. It was then paraffin embedded sections of granules were cut with a microtome and stained with H&E

However, only a very limited number of leukocytes were visible. It is particularly challenging to identify or quantify them. The next approach to solve this challenge was to increase the cell numbers in the culture. Changing from using DMEM(GibcoTM Catalog number 21331020) media to RPMI-1640 (GibcoTM Catalog number 11875093) media as reported¹⁷⁶ both with 10% FBS serum and 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin However, minor difference was noticed, neither the cell number nor proliferation changed significantly. Attempted to see if changing initial leukocyte separation techniques could increase cell number and survival, but insignificant effect was noted. A deeper literature review suggested that rodent cells in particular were challenging to culture due to a blood component and this could be greatly improved by cell washing with media and neutral sterile PBS.

5.2 The importance of Washing:

In order to provide an optimal and consistent environment that supports ideal cell expansion, the pH of the media is typically kept constant. ¹⁵¹Changes in pH or a drop in temperature are not tolerated by leukocytes cell culture. It was shown previously that myeloid differentiation is severely inhibited outside of the pH range of 7.2 to 7.4, where if performs the best. ¹⁵² Thus, it is very important to keep the cells culturing at the constant pH. Washing cells with PBS during rat leukocytes separation from their peripheral blood was reported to increase both cells' numbers and cell survival rates. ¹⁵²



Figure 2.1Leukocytes cell staining with H&E. a) Unwashed rat leukocytes cultured for 24hrs and along with monetite granules then treated with 0.25X Trypsin for 5 mins in the incubator then stained with H&E at the 40X magnifications. b) Unwashed rat leukocytes cultured for 48hrs and along with HA granules then treated with 0.25X Trypsin for 5 mins in the incubator, then stained with H&E at the 40X magnifications c) Washed rat leukocytes with PBS during Ficolldensity gradient separation cultured for 24hrs and with monetite granules then treated with 0.25X Trypsin for 5 mins in the incubator then stained with H&E at the 40X magnifications d) Washed rat leukocytes with PBS during Ficoll-density gradient separation cultured for 48hrs and with HA granules then treated with 0.25X Trypsin for 5 mins in the incubator then stained with HA granules then treated with 0.25X Trypsin for 5 mins in the incubator then stained with H&E at the 40X magnifications.

Figure 2.1 shows the difference between cells washed with PBS during Ficoll-density gradient separation from peripheral blood and cells not washed with PBS during the separation. There was an increase in cell number, from 27 (+/- 5%) to 185 (+/- 5%) in comparison with unwashed rat leukocytes cultured with monetite for 24hrs and the washed rat leukocytes cultured with monetite for 24hrs and the washed rat leukocytes cultured with monetite for 24hrs. Moreover, an increase in cell count from 25(+/- 5%) to 140(+/- 5%) with the washing step for leukocytes culturing with HA granules for 48hrs. More viable cells are trypsinized from both monetite granules at 24hrs and HA granules at 48hrs stained with H&E.



Figure 2.2 Leukocytes cells. a) Unwashed rat leukocytes cultured alone for 15 days then treated with 0.25X Trypsin for 5mins from the plate in the incubator then stained with H&E observed at 40X magnification. b) Washed Rat cultured alone for 15 days then treated with 0.25X Trypsin for 5mins from the plate in the incubator then stained with H&E observed at 40X magnification. c)Live Dead assay for unwashed rat leukocytes culturing alone for 7 days at 5X magnification. Blue stains for the nucleus, green stains for the live cells, red stains for the dead cells. d)Live Dead assay for washed rat leukocytes culturing alone for 7 days at 5X magnification. Blue stains for the nucleus, green stains for the live cells, red stains for the dead cells.

Figure 2.2 shows that after 15 days unwashed leukocytes cultured alone then detached with 0.25% trypsin and H&E no sign of cells could be determined. However, after the washing step with, there were 130 cells observed at day 15 of adherent rat leukocytes culturing alone. Washing cells with PBS twice is thought to remove some blood components that causes cell death and cell cytotoxicity, as well as to increase their ability to attach to granules, thus increase the overall number of viable cells trypsinized from the granules, stained with different stains and observed. In addition, an increase in the overall cell survival rates when they attach to the monetite granules was observed with the washing steps with PBS during the initial density gradient cell separations. Another important observation was that washing the sterilized granules 5 times with PBS prior to co-culture with leukocytes also helped with leukocyte attachment to the biomaterials. Both cells and materials should be under the neutral condition in order to observe the proper cell attachments and cell proliferations.



Figure 2.3 MGG stain on rat leukocytes a) MGG stain washed granules and leukocytes coculture for 7 days, treated with 0.25X trypsin in the incubator for 5mins then stained MGG under 10X magnification. b) MGG stain washed granules and leukocytes co-culture for 7 days, treated with 0.25X trypsin in the incubator for 5mins then stained MGG under 40X magnification.

Figure 2.3 illustrates efforts to utilise another stain. MGG staining stains the cells that attached and trypsinized from the monetite granules. MGG is frequently used to examine the nucleus' cytological characteristics. Previously noted that, H&E-stained crystals released from the biomaterial granules.



Figure 2.4 Live Dead Assay on rat leukocytes. a) Unwashed leukocytes co-culture with monetite granules for 24hrs then stained with live dead assay, image directly taken from the granules 10X magnification barely any cells observed, but a lot of crystals b)Washed Leukocytes co-culture with monetite granules for 24hrs then stained with live dead assay, image directly taken from the granules 5X magnification, live cells observed and attached to the biomaterials. Two images were taken at different time points and different microscope, emission was set differently.

Figure 2.4 compares the image directly taken with ECO PRO microscope. Washed granules on the right side clearly have more leukocytes attached at 24hrs, whereas on the left side, the size of the live dead does not correspond to the size of cells. They are large crystals from the granules instead of adherent leukocytes. Similar observation is found when washed leukocytes are co-culture with HA granules for 24hrs as shown in figure 2.5. Most of the rat leukocytes are able to attach to the granules, survive and proliferate. Blue edge is the edge of the granules, as observed that most washed cells can attach to the HA granules at 24hrs.



Figure 2.5 HA granules co-culture with washed rat leukocytes for 24hrs 5X magnification stained with Hoechst and Live-Dead stain, blue indicates the nucleus, green indicates the live cells. Granules are self-florescent.

5.3 Identification of the rat leukocytes:

After successfully co-culture rat leukocytes with different biomaterials. The next step was to attempt to identify and quantify these cells. Identification these cells using H&E stain was the original plan to see if certain biomaterials are selective to certain types of rat leukocytes. However, the H&E morphology of the rat leukocytes are not as clear as the human blood smear and makes it exceedingly difficult to identify exactly which type of rat leukocytes. Due to the technical difficulties as not able to use 100X light microscope and the imaging was not available. It makes it challenging to identify exactly types of rat leukocytes using solely light microscope. The next attempt was to use immunohistochemistry to identify exactly types of rat leukocytes that attach to the granules. As shown in figure 2.6, different first antibodies were applied following the immunohistochemistry protocol to the trypsinized rat leukocytes co-cultured with monetite granules for 24hrs. Despite mounting evidence that iNos is involved in the regulation of immune response in addition to its role in pathogen killing, iNos is an important marker of M1 macrophage activation. ¹⁵³ Phagocytosis is a crucial step in bone shaping and bone remodeling. As shown in

figure 2.6 as well, there are Nox2 + cells were also evident, as Nox2 is an important immunohistochemistry marker for diverse types of phagocytes, Nox2 generates large amount of reactive oxygen species in phagosomes, which function to kill invading microbes.¹⁵⁴. Another cell type observable was CD4+ T helper cells, which is crucial for the activation of the cells of the innate immune system, cytotoxic T cells, B-lymphocytes as well as regulate nonimmune cells and play a role in immune suppression.¹⁵⁵ Figure 2.6 has shown the presence of rat macrophages, other types of phagocytes as well as CD4+ T cells attach to the monetite granules. However, little quantification can be done as only few markers positive cells were present. Thus, it is difficult to conclude if the monetite granules and other biomaterials are selective to bind certain types of rat leukocytes. The proliferation rate of distinct types of rat leukocytes on the monetite granules seems extremely challenging to measure.



Figure 2.6 Immunohistochemistry identification of rat leukocytes. a)Monetite granules coculture with rat leukocytes for 24hrs then treated with 0.25X trypsin for 5 mins in the incubator followed by iNOS antibody for ON then 2^{nd} antibody (Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-rabbit IgG H+L), and Hoechst stain, iNOS+ macrophage.b)Monetite granules co-culture with rat leukocytes for 24hrs then treated with 0.25X trypsin for 5 mins in the incubator followed by Nox2 antibody for ON then 2^{nd} antibody (Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-rabbit IgG H+L), and Hoechst stain, Nox2+ phagocytes c)Monetite granules co-culture with rat leukocytes for 24hrs then treated with 0.25X trypsin for 5 mins in the incubator followed by Nox1 antibody (Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-rabbit IgG H+L), and Hoechst treated with 0.25X trypsin for 5 mins in the incubator followed by CD4 antibody for ON then 2^{nd} antibody (Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-rabbit IgG H+L), and Hoechst stain, CD4+ T helper cells

Several types of rat leukocytes that attach to the monetite granules and have different morphologies are also seen using live dead assay under the 60X fluorescence microscope. This is another evidence that shows more than one type of rat leukocytes are recruited to the granules, and are able to attach to the granules. It is reasonable to assume that monetite granules are not selective to bind to a certain type of rat leukocytes based on the cells' morphology and the immunohistochemistry stain. However, there could be a difference in the proliferation rate of distinct types of rat leukocytes, but more future work needs to be done, and a better immunohistochemistry quantification technique is needed to develop.



Figure 2.7 Distinct types of trypsinized rat leukocytes. a)0.25X Trypsinized rat
leukocytes(phagocytes) from the monetite granules after 24hrs of co-culture, 60X magnification.
b) Multi-nucleus rat leukocytes under the 60X magnification.





Figure 2.8 The 24h Rat Leukocytes MTT proliferation assay minus the background at different initial cell concentrations 1)The initial amount of rat leukocytes count in each well was estimated using Trypan Blue Stain. 2)The raw data from was processed and subtracted the background reading from the wells with media, MTT reagent and MTT solution only (control).3) Blue is the reading from wells with material free control only, orange is the wells with cells and HA granules co-culture for 24hrs, grey is the cells with monetite granules coculture for 24hrs.4) The higher the readings indicate the higher the rat leukocytes proliferations.

Figure 2.8 shows the MTT assay analyses. The three different sections indicate the three different initial number of cells put in each well for the assay. Each well was made with a duplicate, and the average of the two readings was used to create this graph. From all three groups with different concentrations of cells, it is observed that both cells culture with HA granules and cells culture with monetite granules have all higher absorbance readings, thus higher proliferation rate than cells growing alone. Especially at 30,000 and 150,000 cells, cells co-culture with monetite granules

proliferation readings is 6 times and 2.5 times higher than cells culturing alone. Whereas in cells co-culture with HA granules, the cell number was 2 times and 1.5 times higher than the cells growing alone. However, at 60,000 initial cell concentration, the cells co-culture with monetite and HA granules were only slightly higher than the cells growing alone. The overall trend still reflects the finding that rat leukocytes separated from the peripheral blood co-culture with monetite and HA granules have a higher absorbance, thus increased cells proliferation rate compared to material free control where cells were growing alone.



Figure 2.9 ELISA target IL-1beta protein concentrations of rat's Leukocytes alone and with HA granules, Monetite granules at 3 different time points. 1)X-axis indicates the IL-1 beta protein concentrations calculated using the standard protein curve from the method section. 2)The data was processed using the Excel tools provided by the ELISA kit. 3)The data is collected from rat cells growing alone, cells co-culture with HA granules, cells co-culture with monetite granules at 1 day, 2 days, and 5 days. 4)The ELISA assay was conducted using the 96 wells microplate coated with anti-Human IL-1 beta.

Figure 2.9 shows quantification of IL-1 beta released in the media by rat leukocytes either cultured alone or with different materials at 1, 2 and 5 days. At 2 and 5 days, cell cultured with monetite granules release more IL-1 beta protein than other conditions, but the difference was modest. Quantification for the rat leukocytes reveals an interesting trend. While co-culture with HA granules and Monetite granules does not lead to higher concentration of IL-1 beta protein compared to cells growing alone. Cells co-culture with monetite granules exhibit elevated IL-1 beta protein concentrations in the culture media at a later time stage. This could happen due to the fact this ELISA assay was using the human IL-1 beta antibody. It could significantly impact the assay result since we are using the assay for the rat leukocytes. This could be improved with a replication of the assay with the rat leukocytes antibody to validate with the previous finding that co-culture with biomaterials can increase rat leukocytes proliferation.

5.5 THP-1 Monocyte and differentiated Macrophage interaction with HA and Monetite

In order to minimize the potential conflict from culturing human leukocytes separated from the human peripheral blood, we chose to use commercially available monocyte line to save time as well as to obtain a larger number of viable cells. Human monocytic cell line commonly used in research due to its ability to differentiate into macrophage-like cells. THP-1 cells are easy to culture, maintain, and can be manipulated in various experimental settings. Additionally, they provide a consistent and reproducible model system for studying monocyte and macrophage biology and immune responses. Leukocytes adherence to biomaterial is rather rapid¹²⁸, and their existence is crucial for evoking inflammatory reactions as well as for modulating injury repairment and bone healing. The rapid attachment to the biomaterials were shown in all the THP-1 human leukocytes interactions with biomaterials.



Figure 2.10 Macrophages on biomaterials Live dead assay. a) Monetite granules co-culture with THP-1 Macrophages for 24hrs stained with Edu and Hoechst at 5X magnifications b) HA granules co-culture with THP-1 Macrophages for 24hrs stained with Edu and Hoechst at 5X magnification.

The THP-1 Monocytes were cultured are maintained until confluence with repeatedly adding the media and observation under the microscope to make sure to culture a substantial number of cells. They were then separated into different flasks, and one of the flasks was treated with 5ng/ml PMA from Sigma-aldrich. THP-1 monocytes differentiate into mature macrophages after being exposed the PMA.¹⁵⁶ PMA is frequently used to promote differentiation into cells that resemble human monocytes derived macrophages. The culture media were changed every 48hrs, and cells were checked daily under the microscope to verify appropriate cell morphology.Macrophages are known to be highly adherent cells in culture.¹⁵⁷ Once the cells confluency density reached, they were treated with 0.25X trypsin for 5 minutes in the incubator to be collected. Figure 2.10 shows the rapid attachment of macrophages. Edu staining has been used to indicate cell proliferation. Figure 2.11 indicates that macrophages were able to attach to both materials, more attachment was observed on monetite granules as more cells and larger cells were noticed.



Figure 2.11 Macrphages on biomateirlas Live-Dead Assay. a) Monetite granules co-culture with THP-1 Macrophages for 48hrs stained with Edu and Hoechst at 5X magnification.b) HA granules co-culture with THP-1 Macrophages for 48rs stained with Edu and Hoechst at 5X magnification. c) Monetite granules co-culture with THP-1 Macrophages for 5days stained with Edu and Hoechst at 5X magnification. d) HA granules co-culture with THP-1 Macrophages for 24hrs stained with Edu and Hoechst at 5X magnification.

Comparable results were seen when both biomaterials were co-cultured with macrophages for a longer time period at 2days and 5days. Macrophages still attached to the HA granules and monetite granules very well. There were increasing numbers of cells that attached to both types of granules. Quantification of cells in different biomaterials was performed using Image J batch processing. Five images per timepoint at 5X magnification were quantified. Table 2.12 shows the average cell count and cell size for the 5 different images for cell plate, new granules, HA granules, monetite granules at 24hrs, 48hrs, and 5 days. An additional group of calcium pyrophosphate granules with a particle size around 20µm were included and appeared to have the greatest number of cells.

Although the pyrite phosphate granules appear to have the highest cell count, several factors pose challenges in accurate assessment. Firstly, the average cell size is too small, which aligns with the granules themselves being undersized. Moreover, autofluorescence may contribute to counting inaccuracies. Given the size limitations of the pyrite phosphate granules, conducting further MTT assays is impractical. Therefore, it is necessary to devise an improved method to evaluate cell attachment to the granules and establish a more reliable approach for cell counting and size measurement. These granules themselves autofluorescence and were an equivalent size to cells and so further quantification with this material was abandoned.

Table 2.12 Adherent macrophages c (Cell Count), s (Cell Size), show the average cell count and cell size of cells growing on the plate, cells with new granules, HA granules, and monetite granules using Image J Batch processing.

Adherent	1 day (24hrs)	2 days (48hrs)	5 days (120hrs)
Macrophages			
Cell plate	c: 54	c: 26	c: 37
	s: 4.1µm	s: 9.7 µm	s: 10.3 µm
New Granules	c: 1215	c: 1002	c: 100
(Pyrite Phosphate)	s: 4.0µm	s: 3.4 µm	s: 12.0 µm
HA Granules	c: 263	c: 1206	c: 778
	s: 7.7 µm	s: 5.5 µm	s: 12.2 µm
Monetite Granules	c: 401	c: 608	c: 1083
	s: 12.1 µm	s: 5.5 µm	s: 10.2 µm

The number of cells attach to the plate seems be rather consistent and far less compared to any of the granules. All three biomaterials shown to increase cells number, thus cells proliferations. The data once again demonstrates that monetite granules exhibit a higher number for leukocytes attachment compared to HA granules during the initial 24-hour. An average cell count of 401 cells with a diameter of 12.1µm was observed for monetite granules, whereas HA granules recorded a cell count of 263 cells with a diameter of 7.7µmreflected that at the initial 24h. At 5 days, most of the cells are mature which result in a slightly lower number of cells for HA granules, but bigger cell size. All three types of biomaterials have showed an increase in cell number, thus increased cells proliferation compared to cells culturing on the plate alone.



Figure 2.13 ELISA quantification of IL-1 beta in culture medium in which THP-1 macrophages were cultured either alone or with HA, new granules (20µm pyrophosphate granules) and Monetite granules. biomaterials.1) Macrophages culture with different biomaterials over 24h, 48h and 5 days(120hrs), and the media is extracted and stored in the freezer for 2 weeks prior to the ELISA assay. 2) The Y-axis shows the calculated IL-1 beta protein concentrations using the standard curve mentioned earlier, unit is pg/ml. 3) The X-axis is the different calcium phosphate granules used to co-culture with derived human macrophages at 3 different time points. 4) The readings had already subtracted Il-1 beta protein concentrations from macrophages culturing alone, only the exceeded part is shown in the figure.

Figure 2.13 shows the result of ELISA assay. In addition to various activated macrophages and peripheral neutrophil granulocytes, monocytes are the primary source of IL-1 and primary express IL-1 beta. IL-1beta is typically released from macrophages after being processed by caspase-1 after the inflammasome detects infection or danger. ¹⁵⁹ The higher the IL-1 beta concentration means that more macrophages are being activated and starts to release this cytokine. Initially, pyrite phosphates granules have the highest IL-1 beta concentrations, this could occur due to the rapid onset of inflammation triggered by the small size of the pyrite phosphate granules. Cells are

immediately recruited and start to release cytokines. Macrophages are recruited to the location and phagocytosis. At 48hrs, HA granules have the highest IL-1 beta protein concentrations, this is the same result as the previous table 2.12, The results revealed that the highest number of macrophages was observed at 48 hours when co-cultured with HA granules. Additionally, at day 5, the highest concentration of IL-1beta was found in monetite granules co-cultured with macrophages. These findings demonstrate that monetite can effectively stimulate macrophages to continuously release IL-1beta, providing direct evidence of macrophage activation by the biomaterials and their ability to release cytokines and engage in phagocytic activity. Such activation is crucial for the healing and remodeling processes of bones and teeth (ref!). Furthermore, macrophages exhibited excellent viability and proliferation at day 5 when co-cultured with monetite granules, as indicated in Table 2.12, where the macrophage count was highest in the monetite granules co-culture. Figure 2.14 presents the MTT reading for the 5-day co-culture of macrophages with biomaterials.



Figure 2.14 5days(120hrs) Human Macrophages culture alone, co-culture with HA and monetite granules MTT average readings subtracted the background readings. 1)The 5 days macrophages are treated with MTT assay and the plate reader is set absorbance at OD=590nm. 2)The higher the reading means the higher the macrophage proliferations. 3.) All three readings, cells culturing alone, cells culture with HA granules, cells culture with monetite granules have already subtract the background (media alone treated with MTT) 4) Each data set came with a duplicate, and the average of the two is taken to generate this graph.

At day 5(120hrs), figure 2.14 has shown MTT assay that measures the macrophages proliferation at 5 days of incubation and cells that are incubated alone and with biomaterials for 5 days prior to the assay. As can be seen, there is no difference between cells alone and cells incubated with HA granules However, there was a significant 6.5-fold increase between the cells alone and those incubated with monetite. Cells culture alone has the reading of 0.020, while cells culture with HA granules has 0.025. There is only a slight increase in proliferation when macrophages are cultured with HA granules. However, an increase from 0.020 in cells growing alone to 0.135 when cells co-cultured with monetite granules is observed. The higher the MTT reading indicates the higher the proliferation rate. Both HA granules and monetite granules improve the number of viable macrophages in-vitro. It can be concluded that both cells culture with HA granules and monetite granules have a higher proliferation rate compared to cells culturing alone. Culturing with biomaterials have positive effect on macrophages proliferations, as well as activations. Cells culture with monetite granules have the highest proliferation, comparing with cells cultured alone and cells with HA granules. Macrophages possess the potential to differentiate into bone resorbing osteoclasts when treated with RANKL¹³¹ that ultimately plays vital role in bone and teeth remodeling and healing.

Quantification of human THP-1 monocytes:



Figure 2.15 Monocytes co-culture with biomaterials. a) Monetite granules co-culture with monocytes for 24hrs, stained with Edu and Hoechst at 5X magnification b) HA granules coculture with monocytes for 24hrs, stained with Edu and Hoechst at 5X magnification c) Monetite granules co-culture with monocytes for 48hrs, stained with Edu and Hoechst at 5X magnification. d) HA granules co-culture with monocytes for 48hrs, stained with Edu and Hoechst at 5X magnification.

A broken bone can heal because healthy human bone is a material that is constantly changing. Osteoclasts are monocytes derived cells that use ions like calcium and phosphate that are present in blood plasma as well as stored in bones and teeth to degrade or build bone in response to biomechanical stimuli. ¹³⁰ Recent study has also shown that osteoblastic linage cells have been found exist in the human peripheral blood. ¹⁶² Peripheral blood is an easily accessible source of adult stem cells for research and clinical applications. In addition, the transplantation of these PBMC-derived cells can regenerate tissues and restore function after injury. PBMCs have been reported to contain a multitude of distinct multipotent progenitor cell populations and have the capacity to differentiate into blood cells, endothelial cells, hepatocytes, cardiomyogenic cells, smooth muscle cells, osteoclasts, epithelial cells, neural cells or myofibroblasts under appropriate

conditions.¹²⁵ Monocyte is an important part of PBMCs and exert important function in immune response as well as injury repair. Figure 2.15 shows the difference between the monocytes culture with monetite and culture with HA granules. At 24hrs, most monocytes are able to attach the monetite granules, while there are not as many cells attach to the HA granules. At 48hrs, similar trend is observed as some large cells or cluster of cells are observed. Monocytes possess the ability to differentiate into macrophages with several factors for phagocytosis as well as osteoclasts that is responsible for bone remodeling. Monetite granules increase the number of the cells and size of the cells attached. There is a clear preference that monocytes attach to the monetite granules better and proliferate more compared to the HA granules. This can potentially be the clinical target for osteoporosis, which is a condition caused by bone resorption exceeds the speed of bone production. If we can positively identify whether monetite promotes certain types of monocytes differentiation, especially with an interest on M1, M2 macrophages, and osteoclasts. Osteogenic substances secreted by M2 macrophages promote the activation and differentiation of pre-osteoblastic cells, such as mesenchymal stem cells, which in turn promotes bone mineralization. ¹⁶⁰ If monetite materials can promote a certain type of monocytes differentiation, it can be used as the medical implants to target syndromes like osteoporosis.



Figure 2.16a 24hrs Human THP-1 monocytes MTT assay for Cells culturing alone, culture with HA granules and Monetite at different Initial cell concentrations subtracted the background reading.



Figure 2.16b 48hrs Human TPH-monocytes MTT assay for Cells culturing alone, culture with HA granules and Monetite at different Initial cell concentrations subtracted the background reading.



Figure 2.16c 5days(120hrs) Human THP-1 monocytes MTT assay for Cells culturing alone, culture with HA granules and Monetite at different Initial cell concentrations subtracted the background reading. 1) All three graphs use absorbance OD=590nm setting using the plate reader. 2) Three graphs each indicate a different time point, different initial amount of cells numbers is put into the different wells culture alone and co-culture with different biomaterials. 3) All the data readings have subtracted the background readings (RPMI-1640 media alone with MTT), and each well was made with a duplicate. The average of the two is taken to create this graph. 4) Each column represents different culture conditions. Blue is the cells culturing alone, orange column is monocytes culture with HA granules, grey column is monocytes culture with monetite granules. 5) The higher the absorbance reading indicates the higher cells proliferation and better cell viability.

Figure 2.16 a,b,c shows the MTT assay on THP-1 monocytes at three different time points: 24hrs, 48hrs and 5days(120hrs). All the cells culture with HA granules and monetite granules shown a higher absorbance than cells culture alone. With the exception at 24hrs at 37,000 initial cells has a higher absorbance than cells culture with HA granules. This could happen randomly due to the high proliferation of that particular well of cells. However, the rest of the data point at different

time points agrees with the statement that cells co-culture with biomaterial have a higher proliferation and better cells viability compared to cells culturing alone. Especially, monocytes cocultured monetite granules have showed the most consistent result. In most cases, cells culture with monetite granules have twice the proliferation rate and cell viability compared to the cells culture alone. Human monocytes co-culture with HA granules, on the other hand, also have higher proliferations rate compared to cell culture with no biomaterials, with the exception at 24hrs at 37,000 initial cells. At 24hrs 15,000 initial cells wells, monocytes co-culture with HA granules exceeds the OD=590nm readings than monetite granules. However, in most cases, monocytes coculture with HA granules has a lower cell proliferations and cell viability compared to monocytes co-culture with monetite granules. Monocytes co-culture with HA granules have a higher MTT absorbance reading than cells growing alone in most cases, hence a higher cells proliferations and cells viability compared to monocytes culturing alone. This finding echoes with the qualitative analysis that more monocytes attach to the monetite than HA granules, while both materials shown to increase THP-1 human monocytes proliferation and viability. Monetite materials have the most positive effect on monocytes proliferations, cell viability. We need to invest to understand the exact differentiation mechanism of cells with the presence of calcium phosphate biomaterials. There is also a need to develop the better characterization and quantification technique of cells differentiated from the monocytes in order to confirm if certain biomaterials promote a certain type of cells differentiation.



Figure 2.17 THP-1 Human Monocytes IL-1 beta concentrations when co-culture with different calcium phosphate granules at 24hrs minuses cells culturing alone. 1) THP-1 linage human monocytes culture with different biomaterials over 24hrs, and the media is extracted and stored in the freezer for 2 weeks prior to the ELISA assay. 2) X-axis shows the calculated IL-1 beta protein concentrations using the standard curve came with the kit mentioned earlier, unit is pg/ml. 3) Y-axis is the different calcium phosphate granules used to co-culture with THP-1 monocytes. 4) The readings had already subtracted IL-1 beta protein concentrations from THP-1 monocytes culturing alone, only the exceed part is left in the graph.

Figure 2.17 shows the IL-1 beta protein ELISA for THP-1 human monocytes IL-1 concentrations when co-culture with different calcium phosphate granules at 24hrs. Monocytes co-culture with monetite granules has the highest exceeded concentrations of IL-1 beta proteins at close to 11pg/ml, while new granules show the second highest exceeded IL-1 beta proteins concentrations at close to 5pg/ml. and the HA granules only exceed the material free control cell by close to 2.5pg/ml.

Human monocytes co-culture with monetite granules again has the highest concentrations of IL-1 beta released at 24hr.



New Granules (pyrite phosphate):

Figure 2.18Pyrite phosphate granules with leukocytes. a) New granules (pyrite phosphate) coculture with human macrophages 24hrs stained with Edu and Hoechst, 5X magnification. b) New granules (pyrite phosphate) co-culture with human THP-1 monocytes 24hrs stained with Edu and Hoechst, 5X magnification. c) New granules (pyrite phosphate) co-culture with human macrophages 48hrs stained with Edu and Hoechst, 5X magnification. d) New granules (pyrite phosphate) co-culture with THP-1 monocytes 48hrs stained with Edu and Hoechst, 5X magnification. e) New granules (pyrite phosphate) co-culture with macrophages 5days(120hrs) stained with Edu and Hoechst, 5X magnification. f)New granules (pyrite phosphate) co-culture with THP-1 monocytes 5days(120hrs) stained with Edu and Hoechst, 5X magnification.

Figure 2.18 shows the new granules co-culture with human THP-1 monocytes and macrophages. The image reveals a prominent autofluorescence that makes it extremely challenging to differentiate between cells, crystals, and granules. The pyrite phosphate granules have a similar diameter to the cells, and it made it difficult to do any leukocytes identification or quantifications.

However, it was observed that some cell attachment to the pyrite phosphate granules to the limited extend. At 24hrs co-culture with human macrophages, some phagocytic activities were observed, but it was incredibly challenging to identify if these fluorescence signals are crystals or cells phagocytosis the small pyrite phosphate granules. For the further experiment, there will be need to develop a systematic technique to stain cells, count cells, trypsinize cells, identify cells, and quantify cells when co-culture with small size granules such as pyrite phosphate granules.



Negative Control:

Figure 2.19 Negative controls. a) Monetite granules co-culture with RPMI-1640 media alone (- control) for 5 days at 5X magnification b)HA granules co-culture with RPMI-1640 media alone (- control) for 5 days at 5X magnification

In order to validate all the experiments, a negative control is always needed. In these sets of experiments, a negative control was carried out to make sure that the blue stain attached to the granules are cells instead of random bacterial infection or crystals. As mentioned earlier, granules itself can have autofluorescence. Figure 2.18 shows the negative control in this study, no cells were observed on any of the negative control, but the monetite and HA granules showed autofluorescence in the Live-Dead Assay.

Chapter 6: Discussion:

6.1summary of objectives:

Calcium phosphate materials have been widely used as bone and teeth implants, coating scaffold to deliver drugs, repopulation of blood vessels and nerves and a lot more. When calcium phosphate biomaterials are used to repair the bone and the body, the initial cell colonization is indeed monocytes and macrophages from the peripheral blood. The primary goal of this experiment is to develop the reproducible 3D microenvironment in vitro using rat peripheral blood leukocytes cells, human THP-1 linage monocytes and macrophages culture with calcium phosphate granules. When implanting calcium phosphate biomaterials inside the body, there are macrophages and other leukocytes colonized inside these materials. It is important to investigate whether these peripheral blood leukocytes could attach, proliferate, and differentiate into the desired WBC cell types to the monetite and HA granules, which are the main source of instant cells colonization after the implantation.

6.2 Summary of findings:

Washing cells with PBS, as well as washing all the biomaterial granules with PBS at least three times to reach a neutralized pH prior to the 3D cell culture is crucial for proper leukocytes attachment, growth and even differentiation. When the local acidity is too high, biomaterials' ability to grow cells is hindered. Acidic biomaterials can negatively impact the rats' and human's WBC growth and viability.¹⁶¹ Although facing numerous challenges, I was able to find the stable 3D in vitro culture parameters for leukocytes co-culture with biomaterials' granules. I was also able to produce the reproducible quantitative result of both rat and human leukocytes attach and grow on the calcium phosphate monetite and HA granules. Both human and rat leukocytes are able to attach to the monetite and HA granules very well and proliferate better compared to cells growing alone. However, monetite granules provide the best 3D microenvironment for rat leukocytes, and THP-1 monocytes to survive and proliferate as they have the highest MTT absorbance OD=590nm readings, hence the highest cell viability and proliferations compared to cells culture with HA granules and cells growing alone. Monetite granules also enhances human macrophage proliferation and perhaps differentiation. Nonetheless, HA granules provide the best microenvironment for human macrophage proliferation at 48hrs, as it has the highest ELISA IL-1 beta protein concentrations as well as the highest cell counts using Image J cells batch processing.

6.3 Interpretation:

Washing both cells and granules with PBS is an important leukocytes cell culture parameter to generate the reproducible in-vitro cell culture. 3D cell culture microenvironment is an overly complex system that requires a thorough understanding of the cell growing mechanism. There are a lot of factors that play major roles in cell culture. The current cell culture parameter is 37°C, 5% CO₂, 95% humidity and make sure the cells are not under hypoxia, monitor cell densities to avoid overcrowd of the cells, as well as to use 10%FBS, 1% anti-fungal RPMI-1640 media. The lab station should be properly sterilized, and limited incubator sharing with others. The cells and the granules should also be washed with PBS multiple times ensure the neutral pH for proper cell attachment, especially phagocytic cells such as monocytes and macrophages. This finding is fundamental to create the pH sensitive biomaterial coating drug delivery system. As for the granules and all the tools, lab equipment used to handle cells and granules should be autoclaved to avoid any contamination. Contamination is a big problem for all cell culture and could significantly disturb the overall result. Both rat leukocytes and human monocytes, macrophages could attach to the granules very well in 24hrs, thus we can confirm that leukocytes attach to biomaterials in a rapid manner. Calcium phosphate biomaterials will attract rat leukocytes, human monocytes, and macrophages attachment. Quantitively, monetite and HA granules promote both rat and human leukocytes' cells proliferation and increase cytokine release as well as cell numbers in vitro. In addition to macrophages differentiating into osteoclast to reshape bones and teeth, macrophages also play a significant role in phagocytic activities that contributes to normal bone and wound healing as well as muscle regeneration. Inadequate transition from M1 pro-inflammation state to M2 anti-inflammation and healing state leads to osteoporosis and delayed healing and regenerations. It is also deducted that these biomaterials can promote monocytes to osteoclast, dendritic cells, and macrophages differentiation, as well as macrophages M1 to M2 transition, because more cells are observed, and more cytokines are being produced. By promoting endogenous healing and regeneration, optimizing the ratio of pro-and anti-inflammatory macrophages responses can help tissue and biomaterial engineering strategies.

6.4 Limitations:

There are other complications occurred that had massive impact on the results of cell culture, such as bacterial and fungal infections happened in the lab, which was resolved by cleaning the incubator and changed the filter completely. The observation of cells was also challenging because monetite granules, HA granules, pyrite phosphate granules themself have autofluorescence and are non-transparent 3D structure. It makes it impossible to observe the granules and its 3D structure under the normal light microscope because light cannot pass through. As well as it was particularly challenging to observe under the non-inverted fluorescence microscope. This problem was resolved at the beginning of the second year with the modern technology of ECO PRO® microscope, which can observe the plate directly and gave the possibility to characterize granules directly on the plate with fluorescence. The data transmission, photo capturing and data acquiring were also much easier and faster with the new microscope. Cell culture conditions and reproducibility was a big challenge as well. Especially with the rat leukocytes separated from the peripheral blood using Ficoll density centrifugation. There were complications such as only a small number of cells were collected, centrifugation did not work, machine broken. Sometimes when the centrifugation did not work well, the peripheral blood collected from the rat was wasted and a lot of time was wasted as well. That is the reason to use the commercial linage human THP-1 cells for the human leukocytes' in vitro experiments. Handling with the small granules was also very demanding. Time and extra care are needed to practice handling and transferring granules as they became very sticky after they made contact with the cells and the media. Granules are also very fragile and easily broken apart when any force is applied, which will result in more crystals produced. It is ideal to avoid transferring or touching the granules after they had been in contact with the cells, PBS, or media in order to get the best result. In addition, there are other difficulties associated with the cell culture, for example, the sterility of the 3D microenvironment, pH of the cell culture, pH of the granules, culturing parameter such as oxygen level, different FBS level, culturing chamber specifications, cell densities, biological variation, viability were problems need be solved regarding the cell culture. In the end, I was able to conquer these challenges to produce the reproducible cell culture and reproducible result. Cell number was another big challenge in my experiment. Initially, when I stained rat leukocytes trypsinized from the granules with H&E, there were extremely limited number of cells observed. It is also due to the fact that only a small amount of peripheral blood could be collected from rats due to the practical limitations that every time the rat size is different, thus blood volume collected sometimes is small, as well as the ethical limitations that collecting rat peripheral blood need to respect the according animal rights ethical protocols. The small sample size made it extremely difficult to get reproducible data. The best way

to culture both rat and human leukocytes with biomaterials is to wash the cells and the autoclaved granules thoroughly with PBS at least 3 times to ensure the neutral pH and sterility. The washing step reduces the cell cytotoxicity, which increases the cell numbers, viability, and the ability to attach to the biomaterials in the in vitro 3D microenvironment rats and human leukocytes' conditions. Quantification of the cell culture was merely impossible in the beginning as only the limited viable cell numbers was observed. However, this was resolved with the repeatedly washing step and switched to linage cells. A large number of cells was cultured and attached to the biomaterials. Furthermore, more literature review was done, and the experiment was redesigned with the addition of MTT and ELISA assay in order to get the quantification result.

6.5 Future Recommendation:

After successfully create the reproducible 3D rat leukocytes culture with different biomaterials, the small rat blood volume and small cell number can be substituted with the larger volume of human blood. Human blood can be easily collected but ethical considerations need to take place. It is important to do this experiment again with human peripheral blood to verify if they have the same result as the linage cells. In addition, for the future experiment extension, more time and effort need to be put in to repopulate the human monocytes and macrophage and co-culture them with pyrite phosphate, as well as to develop a better systematic technique to stain cells, visualize cells, count cells, differ cells from the autofluorescence pyrite phosphate granules. It is also needed to develop a better immunohistochemistry approach to be able to stain the granules directly and acquire a more comprehensive quantitative data. It is expected to identify exactly what cells attach to the granules in order to see if the granules are selective to bind to certain types of leukocytes. It is yet to conclude if certain types of biomaterials promote a certain type of leukocytes differentiation. In addition, if we can positively identify if monetite or HA materials promotes certain types of monocytes differentiation, especially with an interest on M1, M2 macrophages. These biomaterials can potentially be used for drug delivery coating or implants to combat osteoporosis, as well as to promote wound and bone healing, muscle, tissue, and vessel regenerations for a speedy injury repair. One of my lab partners also work on the in-vivo experiments, where to implant monetite and HA granules onto rat's skull to observe if these biomaterials can improve the skull's wound healing. In addition, repeatedly micro-CT scans were performed to examine these rats' vessels and nerves' repopulation.

6.6 Conclusion:

Successfully generate reproducible in-vitro 3D cell culture can have a wide variety of applications. Thorough understanding of the 3D microenvironment can help Increase the in-vitro cell culture cell survival rate and proliferation rate, which can used to design the bioreactors with the best culture conditions to generate a large number of viable cells. This can benefit patients who require cell therapies such as CAR-M, CAR-T cell therapies. Washing cells and the biomaterials with PBS to neutralized pH is crucial in designing any 3D in vitro cell microenvironment. Rat leukocytes, human THP-1 linage monocytes and macrophages all have shown a very rapid attachment to the calcium phosphate granules. In addition, an increase in cells' proliferation and cytokine release are also observed when these leukocytes co-culture with monetite and HA granules. It is further expected that calcium phosphate materials can promote distinct types of leukocytes differentiation, but better immunohistochemistry staining procedure, as well as better identification of leukocytes, and quantification method need to be developed to validate this finding in the future. More importantly, switching from using human linage cells to leukocytes separated from healthy and unhealthy human peripheral blood in 3D in-vitro cell culturing is also required for the future study.

Reference:

- Jumana R et al, (2018, July 17). Controlled M1-to-M2 transition of aged macrophages by calcium phosphate coatings. Biomaterials. Retrieved March 27, 2023, from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0142961218304897?via%3Di ub
- Collecting Blood Specimens for Coagulation Testing LabCE.com, Laboratory Continuing Education. (n.d.). https://www.labce.com/spg131599_collecting_blood_specimens_for_coagulation_testi ng.aspx#:~:text=Venous%20blood%20specimens%20for%20coagulation,and%20may %20affect%20test%20results.
- NCI Dictionary of Cancer terms. National Cancer Institute. (n.d.). Retrieved March 27, 2023, from https://www.cancer.gov/publications/dictionaries/cancer-terms/def/redblood-cell
- 4. Kinnunen, M., Kauppila, A., Karmenyan, A., & Myllylä, R. (2011, July 1). *Effect of the size and shape of a red blood cell on elastic light scattering properties at the single-cell*

level. Biomedical optics express. Retrieved March 27, 2023, from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3130568/#:~:text=Normal%20human %20RBCs%20have%20a,(1.333)%20%5B35%5D.

- Diez-Silva, M., Dao, M., Han, J., Lim, C.-T., & Suresh, S. (2010, May). Shape and biomechanical characteristics of human red blood cells in health and disease. MRS bulletin. Retrieved March 27, 2023, from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2998922/#:~:text=The%20discocyte% 20shape%20of%20human,contained%20in%20the%20RBC%20cytosol.
- Lew, V. L., & Tiffert, T. (2017, December 12). On the mechanism of human red blood cell longevity: Roles of calcium, the sodium pump, PIEZO1, and Gardos channels. Frontiers in physiology. Retrieved March 27, 2023, from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5732905/#:~:text=In%20a%20healthy %20adult%2C%20the,lifespan%20of%20about%20120%20days.
- Hemoglobin A1C statpearls NCBI bookshelf. (n.d.). Retrieved March 27, 2023, from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK549816/
- Low hemoglobin: Causes, signs & treatment. Cleveland Clinic. (n.d.). Retrieved March 27, 2023, from https://my.clevelandclinic.org/health/symptoms/17705-low-hemoglobin
- 9. Low Red Blood Cell Counts / Anemia. (n.d.). https://www.cancer.org/cancer/managingcancer/side-effects/low-blood-counts/anemia.html
- Karsten, E., Hill, C., & Herbert, B. R. (2018). Red blood cells: The primary reservoir of macrophage migration inhibitory factor in whole blood. *Cytokine*, 102, 34–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2017.12.005
- 11. Organization, Healio, & ImageObject. (2010, September 17). Anemia found to have negative consequences on fracture healing. Healio. Retrieved March 27, 2023, from <u>https://www.healio.com/news/orthopedics/20120331/anemia-found-to-have-negativeconsequences-on-fracture</u>
- P;, F. Y. B. N. S. L. (n.d.). *Biochemistry, hemoglobin synthesis*. National Center for Biotechnology Information. Retrieved March 27, 2023, from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30725597/#:~:text=The%20two%20main%20compo nents%20of,heme%20induces%20globin%20gene%20transcription.
- Valderrábano, R. (2017). Older Men With Anemia Have Increased Fracture Risk Independent of Bone Mineral Density. *JCEM*, *102*(7). https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2017-00266
- 14. Hemoglobin electrophoresis. ucsfhealth.org. (2020, October 6). Retrieved March 27, 2023, from https://www.ucsfhealth.org/medical-tests/hemoglobin-electrophoresis#:~:text=Many%20different%20types%20of%20hemoglobin,have%20s mall%20amounts%20of%20HbF.
- 15. Author links open overlay panelKrishnamoorthi Sumaiya a, a, b, c, AbstractMacrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) is a proinflammatory cytokine encoded within a functionally polymorphic genetic locus. MIF was initially recognized as a cytokine generated by activated T cells, Kleemann, R., Kerschbaumer, R. J., Karsten, E., Jung, H., Jose, S., Jankauskas, S. S., Jager, B., Ito, T., Israelson, A., Hare, A. A., Gu, R., Farag, A. G. A., El-Mahdy, R. I., Delaloye, J., ... Calandra, T. (2021, October 19). *Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF): A multifaceted cytokine regulated by genetic and physiological strategies*. Pharmacology & Therapeutics. Retrieved March 28, 2023, from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0163725821002266
- 16. Farr, L., Ghosh, S., & Moonah, S. (2020, June 23). *Role of MIF cytokine/CD74 receptor pathway in protecting against injury and promoting repair*. Frontiers in immunology. Retrieved March 28, 2023, from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7325688/
- 17. Sauler, M., Zhang, Y., Min, J.-N., Leng, L., Shan, P., Roberts, S., Jorgensen, W. L., Bucala, R., & Lee, P. J. (2015, May). *Endothelial CD74 mediates macrophage migration inhibitory factor protection in hyperoxic lung injury*. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. Retrieved March 28, 2023, from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4415022/
- Song, H., Zhu, Z., Zhou, Y., Du, N., Song, T., Liang, H., Chen, X., Wang, Y., Wang, Y., & Hu, Y. (2019, June 13). *MIF/CD74 Axis participates in inflammatory activation of Schwann cells following sciatic nerve injury - journal of molecular histology*. SpringerLink. Retrieved March 28, 2023, from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10735-019-09832-0

- Author links open overlay panelKrishnamoorthi Sumaiya a et al. (2021) Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF): A multifaceted cytokine regulated by genetic and physiological strategies, Pharmacology & Therapeutics. Pergamon. Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0163725821002266 (Accessed: March 28, 2023).
- 20. Author links open overlay panelGownolla Malegowd Raghavendra 1 et al. (2015) Biomaterials: Design, development and biomedical applications, Nanotechnology Applications for Tissue Engineering. William Andrew Publishing. Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780323328890000029 (Accessed: March 28, 2023).
- 21. Exarchos, V. et al. (2022) The path to a hemocompatible cardiovascular implant: Advances and challenges of current endothelialization strategies, Frontiers. Frontiers. Available at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcvm.2022.971028/full (Accessed: March 28, 2023).
- 22. Hassan, S. et al. (2023) A review of carbon-based materials and their coating techniques for biomedical implants applications - carbon letters, SpringerLink. Springer Nature Singapore. Available at: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s42823-023-00496-1 (Accessed: March 28, 2023).
- 23. Author links open overlay panelKangjia Sheng a b et al. (2022) Covalent coating strategy for enhancing the biocompatibility and hemocompatibility of blood-contacting medical materials, Pharmaceutical Science Advances. Elsevier. Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2773216922000010 (Accessed: March 28, 2023).
- 24. *National Center for Biotechnology Information* (no date). Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK563148/ (Accessed: March 29, 2023).
- Chapter 153 the white blood cell and differential count NCBI bookshelf (no date).
 Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK261/ (Accessed: March 29, 2023).
- 26. Delwatta, S.L. et al. (2018) Reference values for selected hematological, biochemical and physiological parameters of Sprague-Dawley rats at the Animal House, Faculty of Medicine, University of Colombo, Sri Lanka, Animal models and experimental medicine.

U.S. National Library of Medicine. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6388088/ (Accessed: March 29, 2023).

- 27. Paxton, S., Peckham, M. and Knibbs, A. (1970) *The Leeds Histology Guide, Home: The Histology Guide*. Available at: https://www.histology.leeds.ac.uk/blood/blood_wbc.php#:~:text=They%20are%20imp ortant%20in%20inflammatory,of%20a%20red%20blood%20cell. (Accessed: March 29, 2023).
- 28. Futosi, K., Fodor, S. and Mócsai, A. (2013) Neutrophil cell surface receptors and their intracellular signal transduction pathways, International immunopharmacology. U.S. National Library of Medicine. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3827506/#:~:text=Signaling%20by%2 0innate%20immune%20receptors,like%20receptors%20(Table%201). (Accessed: March 29, 2023).
- Raskov, H. et al. (2022) Neutrophils and polymorphonuclear myeloid-derived suppressor cells: An emerging battleground in cancer therapy, Nature News. Nature Publishing Group. Available at: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41389-022-00398-3 (Accessed: March 29, 2023).
- 30. Author links open overlay panelMichael E. Wechsler MD a *et al.* (2021) *Eosinophils in health and disease: A state-of-the-art review, Mayo Clinic Proceedings.* Elsevier. Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0025619621004067#:~:text=Eosino phils%20are%20involved%20in%20a,pathologic%20role%20in%20eosinophilic%20d iseases. (Accessed: March 29, 2023).
- 31. McBrien, C. (2016). The Biology of Eosinophils and Their Role in Asthma. *Frontier Medicine*, 4. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed.2017.00093/full#:~:text=Eosinophil s%20possess%20cell%20surface%20receptors,pathophysiology%20(12%E2%80%931 4).
- 32. *Basophils: Function & Ranges.* (n.d.). Cleveland Clinic. https://my.clevelandclinic.org/health/body/23256-

basophils#:~:text=Basophils%20are%20a%20type%20of,flow%20and%20prevent%20 blood%20clots.

- Vitte, J., Vibhushan, S., Bratti, M., Montero-Hernández, J. E., & Blank, U. (2022). Allergy, Anaphylaxis, and Nonallergic Hypersensitivity: IgE, Mast Cells, and Beyond. *Medical Principles and Practice*, *31*(6), 501–515. https://doi.org/10.1159/000527481
- 34. Lee, S. H., Yoon, B. H., Kim, H. J., Yoo, S. W., Kang, S. H., & Lee, W. Y. (2021). Activated Platelets Convert CD14+CD16- Into CD14+CD16+ Monocytes With Enhanced FcγR-Mediated Phagocytosis and Skewed M2 Polarization. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.611133
- 35. Ożańska, A., Szymczak, D., & Rybka, J. (2020). Pattern of human monocyte subpopulations in health and disease. *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology*, 92(1). https://doi.org/10.1111/sji.12883
- 36. Wong, K. W., Tai, J. J. Y., Wong, W., Han, H., Sem, X., Yeap, W. H., Kourilsky, P., & Wong, S. C. (2011). Gene expression profiling reveals the defining features of the classical, intermediate, and nonclassical human monocyte subsets. *Blood*, *118*(5), e16–e31. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-12-326355
- Kapellos, T. S., Bonaguro, L., Gemünd, I., Reusch, N., Saglam, A., Hinkley, E. R., & Schultze, J. L. (2019). Human Monocyte Subsets and Phenotypes in Major Chronic Inflammatory Diseases. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.02035
- 38. Territo, M. (2023, March 15). *Monocyte Disorders*. Merck Manuals Consumer Version. https://www.merckmanuals.com/en-ca/home/blood-disorders/white-blood-celldisorders/monocyte-disorders
- 39. Macrophages. (n.d.). Physiopedia. https://www.physio-pedia.com/Macrophages
- 40. *Macrophages* / *British Society for Immunology*. (n.d.). https://www.immunology.org/public-information/bitesizedimmunology/cells/macrophages
- Yadav, K. K., Pradhan, M., Singh, D., & Singh, M. R. (2022b). Macrophage-Associated Disorders: Pathophysiology, Treatment Challenges, and Possible Solutions. *Springer EBooks*, 65–99. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-84164-5_4

- Alhamdi, J. R., Peng, T., Al-Naggar, I. M., Hawley, K. L., Spiller, K. L., & Kuhn, L. T. (2019). Controlled M1-to-M2 transition of aged macrophages by calcium phosphate coatings. *Biomaterials*, *196*, 90–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2018.07.012
- 43. (2021). Macrophages What Are They, Different Types, Function, and More. Osmosis.
- 44. Balan, S., Saxena, M., & Bhardwaj, N. (2019). Dendritic cell subsets and locations. *Elsevier EBooks*, 1–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.ircmb.2019.07.004
- 45. Puhr, S., Lee, J., Zvezdova, E., Zhou, Y., & Liu, K. (2015). Dendritic cell development—History, advances, and open questions. *Seminars in Immunology*, 27(6), 388–396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smim.2016.03.012
- 46. Kushwah, R., & Hu, J. C. (2011). Complexity of dendritic cell subsets and their function in the host immune system. *Immunology*, 133(4), 409–419. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2567.2011.03457.x
- 47. Boyce, B. F., Yao, Z., & Xing, L. (2009). Osteoclasts Have Multiple Roles in Bone in Addition to Bone Resorption. *Critical Reviews in Eukaryotic Gene Expression*, 19(3), 171–180. https://doi.org/10.1615/critreveukargeneexpr.v19.i3.10
- 48. The Editors of Encyclopaedia Britannica. (1998, July 20). Osteoclast / cell. Encyclopedia Britannica. https://www.britannica.com/science/osteoclast
- 49. Lymphocytes: Function, Definition, Levels & Ranges. (n.d.). Cleveland Clinic. https://my.clevelandclinic.org/health/body/23342-lymphocytes
- 50. Sauls, R. S. (2022, May 8). *Histology, T-Cell Lymphocyte*. StatPearls NCBI Bookshelf. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK535433/#:~:text=There%20are%20several% 20types%20of,based%2C%20receptor%2Dbound%20antigens.
- 51. Batista-Duharte, A., Téllez-Martínez, D., De Andrade, C. R., Portuondo, D. L., Jellmayer, J. A., Polesi, M. C., & Carlos, I. Z. (2018). Sporothrix brasiliensis induces a more severe disease associated with sustained Th17 and regulatory T cells responses than Sporothrix schenckii sensu stricto in mice. *Fungal Biology*, *122*(12), 1163–1170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funbio.2018.08.004
- 52. Sterner, R. W., & Sterner, R. M. (2021). CAR-T cell therapy: current limitations and potential strategies. *Blood Cancer Journal*, 11(4). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41408-021-00459-7

- 53. *CAR T Cells: Engineering Immune Cells to Treat Cancer*. (2022, March 10). National Cancer Institute. https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/treatment/research/car-t-cells
- 54. Pan, K., Farrukh, H., Chittepu, V. C. S. R., Xu, H., Pan, C., & Zhu, Z. H. (2022). CAR race to cancer immunotherapy: from CAR T, CAR NK to CAR macrophage therapy. *Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research*, 41(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-022-02327-z
- 55. CAR Macrophage Trial Endorses Cell Therapy for Solid Tumors. (2022, January 22). Penn Medicine News.
- 56. Carisma drives CAR-M engineered macrophage cancer therapy forward. (n.d.). Nature. https://www.nature.com/articles/d43747-020-01096-y
- 57. *B* Cells: Types and Function. (n.d.). Cleveland Clinic. https://my.clevelandclinic.org/health/body/24669-b-cells
- Chaplin, D. D. (2010). Overview of the immune response. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *125*(2), S3–S23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2009.12.980
- Marshall, J. S., Warrington, R., Watson, W. T. A., & Kim, H. (2018). An introduction to immunology and immunopathology. *Allergy, Asthma & Clinical Immunology*, 14(S2). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13223-018-0278-1
- Kleiveland, C. R. (2015). Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells. Springer EBooks, 161– 167. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-16104-4_15
- Belambri, S. A., Rolas, L., Raad, H., Hurtado-Nedelec, M., Dang, P. M., & El-Benna, J. (2018). NADPH oxidase activation in neutrophils: Role of the phosphorylation of its subunits. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 48, e12951. https://doi.org/10.1111/eci.12951
- 62. eClinpath. (2019, November 30). Normal leukocytes / eClinpath. https://eclinpath.com/hematology/morphologic-features/white-blood-cells/normalleukocytes/#:~:text=The%20five%20major%20categories%20of,reference%20to%20t heir%20round%20nuclei.
- 63. Danis, J., & Pascolo, S. (2021). Nod-Like Receptors in Host Defence and Disease at the Epidermal Barrier. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(9), 4677. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22094677

- 64. Van Gorp, H., Kuchmiy, A., Van Hauwermeiren, F., & Lamkanfi, M. (2014). NOD-like receptors interfacing the immune and reproductive systems. *FEBS Journal*, 281(20), 4568–4582. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.13014
- Wang, Z., Zhang, S., Xiao, Y., Zhang, W., Wu, S., Qin, T., Yue, Y., Qian, W., & Li, L. (2020). NLRP3 Inflammasome and Inflammatory Diseases. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, 2020, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/4063562
- 66. Chen, K., Hua, K., Tsai, F., Lin, T., Cheng, C., Yang, D., Hsu, H., & Ju, T. (2022). A selective inhibitor of the NLRP3 inflammasome as a potential therapeutic approach for neuroprotection in a transgenic mouse model of Huntington's disease. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 19(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-022-02419-9
- 67. Blevins, H., Xu, Y., Biby, S., & Zhang, S. (2022). The NLRP3 Inflammasome Pathway: A Review of Mechanisms and Inhibitors for the Treatment of Inflammatory Diseases. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2022.879021
- Shlofmitz, E. (2023, February 5). *Calcified Plaque*. StatPearls NCBI Bookshelf. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK539863/
- 69. Kong, P., Cui, Z., Huang, X., Zhang, D., Guo, R., & Han, M. K. (2022). Inflammation and atherosclerosis: signaling pathways and therapeutic intervention. *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-022-00955-7
- 70. Aghamajidi, A., Gorgani, M., Shahba, F., Shafaghat, Z., & Mojtabavi, N. (2021). The potential targets in immunotherapy of atherosclerosis. *International Reviews of Immunology*, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/08830185.2021.1988591
- Mundy, G. R. (2007). Osteoporosis and Inflammation. *Nutrition Reviews*, 65, S147– S151. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-4887.2007.tb00353.x
- 72. Baht, G. S., Vi, L., & Alman, B. A. (2018). The Role of the Immune Cells in Fracture Healing. *Current Osteoporosis Reports*, 16(2), 138–145. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11914-018-0423-2
- Clarke, B. L. (2008). Normal Bone Anatomy and Physiology. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 3(Supplement 3), S131–S139. https://doi.org/10.2215/cjn.04151206

- 74. Gude, C. (2020, January 31). Osteoimmunology: A Current Update of the Interplay Between Bone and the Immune System. Retrieved April 5, 2023, from https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2020.00058/full
- Alhamdi, J. R., Peng, T., Al-Naggar, I. M., Hawley, K. L., Spiller, K. L., & Kuhn, L. T. (2019b). Controlled M1-to-M2 transition of aged macrophages by calcium phosphate coatings. *Biomaterials*, *196*, 90–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2018.07.012
- 76. Saxena, Y., Routh, S., & Mukhopadhaya, A. (2021). Immunoporosis: Role of Innate Immune Cells in Osteoporosis. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.687037
- 77. Chakravarti, A., Raquil, M., Tessier, P. A., & Poubelle, P. E. (2009). Surface RANKL of Toll-like receptor 4–stimulated human neutrophils activates osteoclastic bone resorption. *Blood*, 114(8), 1633–1644. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-09-178301
- 78. Sirufo, M. M., Suppa, M., Ginaldi, L., & De Martinis, M. (2020). Does Allergy Break Bones? Osteoporosis and Its Connection to Allergy. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(3), 712. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21030712
- 79. Gebraad, A., Kornilov, R., Kaur, S., Miettinen, S., Haimi, S., Peltoniemi, H. H., Mannerström, B., & Seppänen-Kaijansinkko, R. (2018). Monocyte-derived extracellular vesicles stimulate cytokine secretion and gene expression of matrix metalloproteinases by mesenchymal stem/stromal cells. *FEBS Journal*, 285(12), 2337–2359. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.14485
- Rivollier, A., Mazzorana, M., Tebib, J., Piperno, M., Aït-Si-Selmi, T., Rabourdin-Combe, C., Jurdic, P., & Servet-Delprat, C. (2004). Immature dendritic cell transdifferentiation into osteoclasts: a novel pathway sustained by the rheumatoid arthritis microenvironment. *Blood*, *104*(13), 4029–4037. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2004-01-0041
- 81. Buckley, M. R., Walters, C. C., Wong, W. C., Cawley, M. F., Ren, S., Schwartz, L. B., & Walls, A. F. (1997). Mast Cell Activation in Arthritis: Detection of α- and β-tryptase, Histamine and Eosinophil Cationic Protein in Synovial Fluid. *Clinical Science*, 93(4), 363–370. https://doi.org/10.1042/cs0930363
- Söderström, K., Stein, E. M., Colmenero, P., Purath, U., Müller-Ladner, U., De Matos,
 C. T., Tarner, I. H., Robinson, W. H., & Engleman, E. G. (2010). Natural killer cells

trigger osteoclastogenesis and bone destruction in arthritis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(29), 13028–13033. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1000546107</u>

- Hirota, K., Hashimoto, M., Ito, Y., Matsuura, M., Ito, H., Tanaka, M., Watanabe, H., Kondoh, G., Tanaka, A., Yasuda, K., Kopf, M., Potocnik, A. J., Stockinger, B., Sakaguchi, N., & Sakaguchi, S. (2018). Autoimmune Th17 Cells Induced Synovial Stromal and Innate Lymphoid Cell Secretion of the Cytokine GM-CSF to Initiate and Augment Autoimmune Arthritis. *Immunity*, 48(6), 1220-1232.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2018.04.009
- 84. (2010). Bioceramic in Dental Implants: A Review. Journal of Indian Prosthodontic Society.
- 85. (n.d.). BIOCERAMICS: DENTAL IMPLANT BIOMATERIALS. PROSTHETIC AND IMPLANT DENTISTRY. https://www.ipskerala.com/JPID-vol-4/journal-jpid/JPID-Vol-04-Issue-01-Article06.pdf
- 86. Albulescu, R., Popa, A. B., Enciu, A., Albulescu, L., Dudau, M., Popescu, I. D., Mihai, S., Codrici, E., Pop, S., Lupu, A., Stan, G., Manda, G., & Tanase, C. (2019). Comprehensive In Vitro Testing of Calcium Phosphate-Based Bioceramics with Orthopedic and Dentistry Applications. *Materials*, *12*(22), 3704. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma12223704
- 87. Franz, S., Rammelt, S., Scharnweber, D., & Simon, J. C. (2011b). Immune responses to implants A review of the implications for the design of immunomodulatory biomaterials. *Biomaterials*, 32(28), 6692–6709. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.05.078
- Mestres, G., Espanol, M., Xia, W., Persson, C., Ginebra, M., & Ott, M. K. (2015). Inflammatory Response to Nano- and Microstructured Hydroxyapatite. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(4), e0120381. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0120381
- Bota, P. C. S., Collie, A. M. B., Puolakkainen, P., Vernon, R. B., Sage, E. H., Ratner, B. D., & Stayton, P. S. (2010). Biomaterial topography alters healing in vivo and monocyte/macrophage activation in vitro. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A*, 95A(2), 649–657. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.32893

- 90. Abaricia, J. O., Farzad, N., Heath, T. J., Simmons, J., Rodrigues, L. M., & Olivares-Navarrete, R. (2021). Control of innate immune response by biomaterial surface topography, energy, and stiffness. *Acta Biomaterialia*, *133*, 58–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2021.04.021
- 91. Marsell, R., & Einhorn, T. A. (2011). The biology of fracture healing. *Injury-International Journal of the Care of the Injured*, 42(6), 551–555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.injury.2011.03.031
- 92. (1977). Hydroxyapatite phagocytosis by human polymorphonuclear leucocytes. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. https://ard.bmj.com/content/annrheumdis/38/1/84.full.pdf
- 93. O Zakharova. (2020). AMEM 2019. https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1757-899X/731/1/012020/pdf
- 94. Fine, N., Sheikh, Z., Al-Jaf, F., Oveisi, M., Borenstein, A., Hu, Y., Pilliar, R. M., Grynpas, M. D., & Glogauer, M. (2020). Differential response of human blood leukocytes to brushite, monetite, and calcium polyphosphate biomaterials. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part B*, 108(1), 253–262. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.b.34385
- 95. Neves, J., Da Rocha, D. N., Lopes, C. T., Barbosa, R. I., Ferreira, L. L., Westin, C. B., Moraes, Â. M., Calsa, B., Santamaria, M. P., Correr-Sobrinho, L., & Correr, A. B. (2022). Calcium phosphates Chitosan-Xanthan composite scaffolds associated with mesenchymal stem cells for regenerative dentistry application. *Ceramics International*, 48(16), 23088–23095. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceramint.2022.04.288
- 96. Zhou, L., You, J., Chen, D., Gu, Y., Wang, Z., Lin, B., Zhao, X., Lin, J., Lin, J., & Liu, W. (2021). 3D printing monetite-coated Ti-6Al-4V surface with osteoimmunomodulatory function to enhance osteogenesis. *Biomaterials Advances*, *134*, 112562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2021.112562
- 97. Dagur, P. K., & McCoy, J. P. (2015). Collection, Storage, and Preparation of Human Blood Cells. *Current Protocols in Cytometry*, 73(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/0471142956.cy0501s73
- 98. Atkuri, K. R., Herzenberg, L. A., & Herzenberg, L. A. (2005). Culturing at atmospheric oxygen levels impacts lymphocyte function. *Proceedings of the National Academy of*

Sciences of the United States of America, *102*(10), 3756–3759. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0409910102

- 99. Bergman, M. J., Bessler, H., Salman, H., & Djaldetti, M. (2003). Relationship Between Temperature and Apoptosis of Human Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells. *International Journal of Hematology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02982642
- 100. Wood, J. N., Johnson, J. A., Mattioli, L. F., & Gonzalez, N. C. (2000). Systemic hypoxia increases leukocyte emigration and vascular permeability in conscious rats. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 89(4), 1561–1568. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.2000.89.4.1561
- 101. Nielsen, L. K. (1999). Bioreactors for Hematopoietic Cell Culture. Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering, 1(1), 129–152. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.bioeng.1.1.129
- 102. Garcia-Aponte, O. F., Herwig, C., & Kozma, B. (2021). Lymphocyte expansion in bioreactors: upgrading adoptive cell therapy. *Journal of Biological Engineering*, 15(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13036-021-00264-7
- 103. Bone marrow transplant Mayo Clinic. (2022, July 20). https://www.mayoclinic.org/tests-procedures/bone-marrow-transplant/about/pac-20384854
- 104. Ferrara, J. L., Levine, B. L., Reddy, P., & Holler, E. (2009). Graft-versus-host disease. *The Lancet*, 373(9674), 1550–1561. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(09)60237-3
- Shlomchik, W. D. (2007). Graft-versus-host disease. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 7(5), 340–352. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2000
- 106. UCSF Health. (2022, June 24). Autologous Transplant Guide: Blood Counts and Transfusions. ucsfhealth.org. https://www.ucsfhealth.org/education/autologoustransplant-guide-blood-counts-andtransfusions#:~:text=The%20cells%20of%20the%20transplanted,blood%20counts%20 start%20to%20recover.
- Mattsson, J., Ringdén, O., & Storb, R. (2008). Graft Failure after Allogeneic Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation*, 14(1), 165–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbmt.2007.10.025

- Kloc, M., & Ghobrial, R. M. (2014). Chronic allograft rejection: A significant hurdle to transplant success. *Burns and Trauma*, 2(1), 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/2321-3868.121646</u>
- Lee, S. J., Nguyen, T. V., Onstad, L., Bar, M., Krakow, E. F., Salit, R. B., Carpenter, P. A., Rodrigues, M., Hall, A. J., Storer, B. E., Martin, P. J., & Flowers, M. E. (2017b). Success of Immunosuppressive Treatments in Patients with Chronic Graft-versus-Host Disease. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation*, 24(3), 555–562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbmt.2017.10.042
- Dziki, J. L., Huleihel, L., Scarritt, M. E., & Badylak, S. F. (2017). Extracellular Matrix Bioscaffolds as Immunomodulatory Biomaterials⁻ *Tissue Engineering Part A*, 23(19–20), 1152–1159. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.tea.2016.0538
- 111. Keane, T. J., & Badylak, S. F. (2014). Biomaterials for tissue engineering applications. *Seminars in Pediatric Surgery*, 23(3), 112–118. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.sempedsurg.2014.06.010
- Marik, P. E. (2015). Transfusion of Blood and Blood Products. *Springer EBooks*, 585–619. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-11020-2_38
- 113. First ever clinical trial of lab-grown red blood cell transfusion. (2022, November
 7). University of Cambridge. https://www.cam.ac.uk/research/news/first-ever-clinical-trial-underway-of-laboratory-grown-red-blood-cells-being-transfused-into-another
- 114. Bordin, J. O., Heddle, N. M., & Blajchman, M. A. (1994). Biologic effects of leukocytes present in transfused cellular blood products. *Blood*, 84(6), 1703–1721. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v84.6.1703.1703
- 115. Lianidou, E., Markou, A., & Strati, A. (2014). Circulating Tumor Cells as a Real-Time Liquid Biopsy: Isolation and Detection Systems, Molecular Characterization, and Clinical Applications. *Elsevier EBooks*, 4113–4130. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-386456-7.07714-5
- 116. Sharma, R., & Marwaha, N. (2010). Leukoreduced blood components: Advantages and strategies for its implementation in developing countries. *Asian Journal of Transfusion Science*, 4(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.4103/0973-6247.59384

- Robey, P. G., Kuznetsov, S. O., Riminucci, M., & Bianco, P. (2014). Bone Marrow Stromal Cell Assays: In Vitro and In Vivo. *Humana Press EBooks*, 279–293. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-62703-989-5_21
- Ogonek, J., Juric, M. K., Ghimire, S., Varanasi, P. R., Holler, E., Greinix, H., & Weissinger, E. M. (2016). Immune Reconstitution after Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2016.00507
- 119. Boyko, T., Longaker, M. T., & Yang, G. P. (2016). Review of the Current Management of Pressure Ulcers. *Advances in Wound Care*, 7(2), 57–67. https://doi.org/10.1089/wound.2016.0697
- 120. Bedsores. (2021, August 8). Johns Hopkins Medicine. https://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/health/conditions-anddiseases/bedsores#:~:text=Bedsores%20are%20ulcers%20that%20happen,problem%2 0among%20frail%20older%20adults.
- Lin, K., & Chang, J. F. (2015). Structure and properties of hydroxyapatite for biomedical applications. *Elsevier eBooks*, 3–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-1-78242-033-0.00001-8
- LeGeros, R. Z., & LeGeros, J. P. (2008). Hydroxyapatite. *Elsevier eBooks*, 367– 394. https://doi.org/10.1533/9781845694227.2.367
- 123. Zhou, H., Yang, L., Gbureck, U., Bhaduri, S. B., & Sikder, P. (2021). Monetite, an important calcium phosphate compound–Its synthesis, properties and applications in orthopedics. *Acta Biomaterialia*, *127*, 41–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2021.03.050
- 124. Cama, G., Gharibi, B., Knowles, J. C., Romeed, S., DiSilvio, L., & Deb, S. K. (2014). Structural changes and biological responsiveness of an injectable and mouldable monetite bone graft generated by a facile synthetic method. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface*, *11*(101), 20140727. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2014.0727
- 125. Zhang, M., & Huang, B. (2012). The multi-differentiation potential of peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Stem Cell Research & Therapy*, 3(6). https://doi.org/10.1186/scrt139

- 126. Lee, A. S. (2005). The ER chaperone and signaling regulator GRP78/BiP as a monitor of endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Methods*, 35(4), 373–381. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2004.10.010
- 127. Human Peripheral Blood Products / Charles River. (n.d.). https://www.criver.com/products-services/cell-sourcing/human-peripheralblood?region=3601
- Arciola, C. R., Campoccia, D., & Montanaro, L. (2018). Implant infections: adhesion, biofilm formation and immune evasion. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, *16*(7), 397–409. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-018-0019-y
- Wang, L., & Nancollas, G. H. (2008). Calcium Orthophosphates: Crystallization and Dissolution. *Chemical Reviews*, 108(11), 4628–4669. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr0782574
- Boehm, A., Meininger, S., Gbureck, U., & Müller, F. (2020). Self-healing capacity of fiber-reinforced calcium phosphate cements. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-66207-2
- Montazerolghaem, M., Ott, M. K., Engqvist, H., Melhus, H., & Rasmusson, A. J. (2015). Resorption of monetite calcium phosphate cement by mouse bone marrow derived osteoclasts. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 52, 212–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2015.03.038
- 132. Flevas, D. A., Papageorgiou, M., Drakopoulos, P., & Lambrou, G. I. (2021). The Role of Immune System Cells in Fracture Healing: Review of the Literature and Current Concepts. *Cureus*. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.14703
- 133. Vorobjeva, N., & Chernyak, B. V. (2020). NETosis: Molecular Mechanisms, Role
 in Physiology and Pathology. *Biokhimiya*, 85(10), 1178–1190.
 https://doi.org/10.1134/s0006297920100065
- Rovin, B. H., Mohandes, S., Bomback, A. S., & Radhakrishnan, J. (2020). Lupus Nephritis. In *Elsevier eBooks* (pp. 799–812). https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-815876-0.00049-8
- 135. Histaminase release from human eosinophils. (1977, February 1). PubMed. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/402420/#:~:text=Phagocytosis%20of%20opsonized% 20zymosan%20by,as%20arylsulfatase%20and%20beta%2Dglucuronidase.

- 136. Steve. (n.d.). What is phagocytosis? / MBInfo. MBInfo. https://www.mechanobio.info/what-is-the-plasma-membrane/what-is-membranetrafficking/what-is-phagocytosis/
- Teitelbaum, S. L. (2000). Bone Resorption by Osteoclasts. *Science*, 289(5484), 1504–1508. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.289.5484.1504
- Boyce, B. F., Yao, Z., & Xing, L. (2009b). Osteoclasts Have Multiple Roles in Bone in Addition to Bone Resorption. *Critical Reviews in Eukaryotic Gene Expression*, 19(3), 171–180. https://doi.org/10.1615/critreveukargeneexpr.v19.i3.10
- 139. Natural Killer Cells / British Society for Immunology. (n.d.). https://www.immunology.org/public-information/bitesized-immunology/cells/naturalkiller-cells
- Leivas, A., Valeri, A., Córdoba, L. C., García-Ortiz, A., Ortiz-Ruiz, A., Sánchez-Vega, L. P., Graña-Castro, O., Fernández, L., Carreño-Tarragona, G., Pérez, M. G., Megías, D., Paciello, M. L., Miguel, J. F. S., Pérez-Martínez, A., Lee, D. A., Powell, D. J., Río, P., & Martinez-Lopez, J. (2021). NKG2D-CAR-transduced natural killer cells efficiently target multiple myeloma. *Blood Cancer Journal*, *11*(8). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41408-021-00537-w
- 141. Li, H., Song, W., Li, Z., & Zhang, M. (2022). Preclinical and clinical studies of CAR-NK-cell therapies for malignancies. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.992232
- 142. Khawar, M. B., & Sun, H. (2021). CAR-NK Cells: From Natural Basis to Design for Kill. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.707542
- 143. Doeing, D. C., Borowicz, J. L., & Crockett, E. T. (2003). Gender dimorphism in differential peripheral blood leukocyte counts in mice using cardiac, tail, foot, and saphenous vein puncture methods. *BMC Clinical Pathology*, 3(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6890-3-3
- 144. Zamora-Bello, I., Hernandez-Baltazar, D., Rodríguez-Landa, J. F., & Rivadeneyra-Domínguez, E. (2022). Optimizing rat and human blood cells sampling for in silico morphometric analysis. *Acta Histochemica*, *124*(6), 151917. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acthis.2022.151917

- 145. Martinon, F., Pétrilli, V., Mayor, A., Tardivel, A., & Tschopp, J. (2006). Goutassociated uric acid crystals activate the NALP3 inflammasome. *Nature*, 440(7081), 237–241. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04516
- 146. Hornung, V., Bauernfeind, F., Halle, A., Samstad, E. O., Kono, H., Rock, K. L., Fitzgerald, K. A., & Latz, E. (2008). Silica crystals and aluminum salts activate the NALP3 inflammasome through phagosomal destabilization. *Nature Immunology*, 9(8), 847–856. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1631
- Duewell, P., Kono, H., Rayner, K. J., Sirois, C. M., Vladimer, G. I., Bauernfeind, F., Abela, G. S., Franchi, L., Núñez, G., Schnurr, M., Espevik, T., Lien, E., Fitzgerald, K. A., Rock, K. L., Moore, K. N., Wright, S. D., Hornung, V., & Latz, E. (2010). NLRP3 inflammasomes are required for atherogenesis and activated by cholesterol crystals. *Nature*, 464(7293), 1357–1361. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08938
- 148. AZoM.com. (2022, October 28). Classifications and Behavior of Different Types of Biomaterials. https://www.azom.com/article.aspx?ArticleID=2630#:~:text=and%20c)).-,Bioresorbab le%20Biomaterials,tissue%20(such%20as%20bone).
- 149. Parin, F. N. (2022). Fabrication and novel applications of polymeric biomaterials for tissue scaffolds. In *Elsevier eBooks*. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-323-96020-5.00007-8
- Kroll, J., Ruiz-Fernandez, M. J. A., Braun, M. B., Merrin, J., & Renkawitz, J. (2022). Quantifying the Probing and Selection of Microenvironmental Pores by Motile Immune Cells. *Current Protocols*, 2(4). https://doi.org/10.1002/cpz1.407
- Scibona, E., & Morbidelli, M. (2019). Expansion processes for cell-based therapies.
 Biotechnology Advances, 37(8), 107455.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2019.107455
- 152. McAdams, T. A., Miller, W. R., & Papoutsakis, E. T. (1997). Variations in culture pH affect the cloning efficiency and differentiation of progenitor cells in *ex vivo* haemopoiesis. *British Journal of Haematology*, 97(4), 889–895. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2141.1997.1372951.x

- Xue, Q., Yan, Y., Zhang, R., & Xiong, H. (2018). Regulation of iNOS on Immune Cells and Its Role in Diseases. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19(12), 3805. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19123805
- Mantegazza, A. R., Savina, A., Vermeulen, M., Pérez, L. M., Geffner, J., Hermine, O., Rosenzweig, S. D., Faure, F., & Amigorena, S. (2008). NADPH oxidase controls phagosomal pH and antigen cross-presentation in human dendritic cells. *Blood*, *112*(12), 4712–4722. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-01-134791
- 155. Bio-Rad. (n.d.). CD4 Marker Antibodies / Bio-Rad. Bio-Rad. https://www.bio-radantibodies.com/cd4-markerantibody.html?JSESSIONID_STERLING=30A9EF4C6F539D1738DF15BC987B5B4 1.ecommerce2&evCntryLang=CA-en&cntry=CA&thirdPartyCookieEnabled=true
- Takashiba, S., Van Dyke, T. E., Amar, S., Murayama, Y., Soskolne, A., & Shapira, L. (1999). Differentiation of Monocytes to Macrophages Primes Cells for Lipopolysaccharide Stimulation via Accumulation of Cytoplasmic Nuclear Factor κB. *Infection and Immunity*, 67(11), 5573–5578. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.67.11.5573-5578.1999
- Malheiro, V., Elbs-Glatz, Y., Obarzanek-Fojt, M., Maniura-Weber, K., & Bruinink,
 A. (2017). Harvesting pre-polarized macrophages using thermo-responsive substrates. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/srep42495
- 158. Figure 2. Differentiation pathway progression of cellular lineages from. . . (n.d.). ResearchGate. https://www.researchgate.net/figure/Differentiation-pathwayprogression-of-cellular-lineages-from-pluripotent-stem-cell-to_fig1_264987788
- 159. Lopez-Castejon, G., & Brough, D. (2011). Understanding the mechanism of IL-1β secretion. *Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews*, 22(4), 189–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cytogfr.2011.10.001
- Muñoz, J. A., Akhavan, N. S., Mullins, A., & Arjmandi, B. H. (2020). Macrophage Polarization and Osteoporosis: A Review. *Nutrients*, 12(10), 2999. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12102999
- 161. Gao, C., Peng, S., Feng, P., & Shuai, C. (2017). Bone biomaterials and interactions with stem cells. *Bone Research*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/boneres.2017.59

- 162. A study of correlation of osteoblasts from peripheral blood with related bone turnover markers. (2011, October 1). PubMed.
 <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22338931/</u>
- 163. The NLRP3 inflammasome signaling pathway. NLRP3 inflammasome activation. . . (n.d.). ResearchGate. https://www.researchgate.net/figure/The-NLRP3inflammasome-signaling-pathway-NLRP3-inflammasome-activation-requiresan_fig3_301238097
- 164. Kleiveland, C. R. (2015b). Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells. In Springer eBooks (pp. 161–167). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-16104-4_15
- 165. Hoang, D. M., Pham, P., Bach, T. Q., Ngo, A. T., Nguyen, Q. T., Phan, T. N. T., Nguyen, G. D., Le, P., Hoang, V. T., Forsyth, N. R., Heke, M., & Nguyen, L. (2022). Stem cell-based therapy for human diseases. *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-022-01134-4
- 166. Sato, Y., Matoba, R., & Kato, K. (2019). Recent Advances in Liquid Biopsy in Precision Oncology Research. *Biological & Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 42(3), 337–342. https://doi.org/10.1248/bpb.b18-00804
- 167. Chaicharoenaudomrung, N., Kunhorm, P., & Noisa, P. (2019). Three-dimensional cell culture systems as an *in vitro* platform for cancer and stem cell modeling. *World Journal of Stem Cells*, 11(12), 1065–1083. https://doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v11.i12.1065
- 168. Lee, J., & Hong, S. (2020). Hematopoietic Stem Cells and Their Roles in Tissue Regeneration. *International Journal of Stem Cells*, 13(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.15283/ijsc19127
- 169. Lopes, D., Martins-Cruz, C., & Mano, J. F. (2018). Bone physiology as inspiration for tissue regenerative therapies. *Biomaterials*, 185, 240–275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2018.09.028</u>
- Nugud, A., Alghfeli, L., Elmasry, M., El-Serafi, I., & El-Serafi, A. T. (2022).
 Biomaterials as a vital frontier for stem cell-based tissue regeneration. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, *10*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2022.713934
- 171. Prakash, N., Kim, J., Jeon, J., Kim, S., Arai, Y., Bello, A. B., Park, H., & Lee, S. (2023). Progress and emerging techniques for biomaterial-based derivation of

mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) from pluripotent stem cells (PSCs). *Biomaterials Research*, 27(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40824-023-00371-0

- 172. Wong, J. K. U., Mehta, A., Vũ, T. T., & Yeo, G. C. (2023). Cellular modifications and biomaterial design to improve mesenchymal stem cell transplantation. *Biomaterials Science*. https://doi.org/10.1039/d3bm00376k
- Bahtiar, M. R. H., Anwar, A. A., Farhana, F. A. E., Prameswari, S., & Munadziroh,
 E. (2023). An insight of Osthole, Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells, and BMP-9
 loaded carbon-based scaffolds as a Biomaterial candidate in Osteoporosis Therapy: A
 Narrative Review. *Research Journal of Pharmacy and Technology*, *16*(1), 459-464.
- Pu'ad, N. M., Haq, R. A., Noh, H. M., Abdullah, H., Idris, M. H., & Lee, T. R.
 (2020). Synthesis method of hydroxyapatite: A review. *Materials Today: Proceedings*, 29, 233–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2020.05.536
- 175. Giri, D. (2022, February 19). May Grunwald-Giemsa Stain: Principle, preparation and procedure. LaboratoryTests.org. https://laboratorytests.org/maygrunwald-giemsa-stain-principle-preparation-and-procedure/
- 176. Dr.Samanthi. (2018, March 13). Difference between RPMI and DMEM. Compare the Difference Between Similar Terms. <u>https://www.differencebetween.com/differencebetween-rpmi-and-vs-dmem/</u>
- 177. Ielo, I., Calabrese, G., De Luca, G., & Conoci, S. (2022). Recent advances in Hydroxyapatite-Based biocomposites for bone tissue regeneration in orthopedics. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23(17), 9721. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23179721
- Chen, X., Li, H., Ma, Y., & Jiang, Y. (2023). Calcium Phosphate-Based Nanomaterials: Preparation, multifunction, and application for bone tissue engineering. *Molecules*, 28(12), 4790. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules28124790